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Many of Sepracor’s ICE Pharmaceutical candidates are

being developed at lower cost and in less time than new chemical entities (NCEs).  

In its ICE Pharmaceutical development program, Sepracor identifies existing drugs that

potentially, in single-isomer or active-metabolite forms, provide significant therapeutic

advances over existing therapies.  ICE Pharmaceuticals are designed to offer benefits such as

reduced side effects, improved therapeutic efficacy, improved dosage, or the opportunity for

new indications. Worldwide 1999 sales for the parent drugs of  ICE Pharmaceuticals under

development by Sepracor and its partners totaled almost $20 billion.
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Earliest Potential Compound Parent Drug Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III NDA Filed
Launch

Launched Levalbuterol  (XOPENEX™) VENTOLIN®/
PROVENTIL®

Launched Fexofenadine  (ALLEGRA®)* SELDANE®

2000 Desloratadine CLARITIN®

2001 Norastemizole HISMANAL®

2001 Levocetirizine ZYRTEC®

2002 (R,R)-formoterol FORADIL®/
ATOCK®

2002 (R)-fluoxetine PROZAC® 

(depression)

2002 (+)-zopiclone IMOVANE®

2003 (+)-desmethylzopiclone, (+)-DMZ IMOVANE®

(anxiety)

2003 (S)-fluoxetine PROZAC®

(migraine)

2004 (+)-didesmethylsibutramine, (+)-DDMS MERIDIA®

(CNS indications)

2002 (+)-norcisapride PROPULSID®

2003 (S)-oxybutynin DITROPAN®

2003 (S)-doxazosin CARDURA®

2004 (–)-didesmethylsibutramine, (–)-DDMS MERIDIA®

(urology indications)

2005 (–)-pantoprazole PANTOZOL™

2007 (S)-lansoprazole PREVACID®

Sepracor is a leading specialty pharmaceutical company focused on developing safer, purer and more 

effective drugs, which are improved versions of widely-prescribed pharmaceutical compounds. These

improved chemical entities, Sepracor ICE™ Pharmaceuticals, are proprietary, single-isomer 

or active-metabolite versions that may offer therapeutic advantages over existing drugs.   

The Company selects for development compounds with the potential to offer improvements over existing 

therapies with respect to efficacy, side effect profile, or both.  Sepracor’s drug development program has 

yielded an extensive portfolio of ICE Pharmaceutical candidates that are concentrated in three major 

therapeutic categories: allergy and asthma, urological and gastroenterological disorders, and central 

nervous system disorders. 

Sepracor

*Fexofenadine product developed and marketed by Hoechst Marion Roussel, Inc. (“HMRI”) as ALLEGRA® brand fexofenadine hydrochloride.
Sepracor has licensed or assigned its related patents worldwide to HMRI.

Europe



Drug Discovery at Sepracor 

We believe that our near-term growth will come from 
commercialization of the ICE Pharmaceuticals currently
under development. However, in the future, Sepracor 
will need new drug opportunities to complement its ICE
Pharmaceutical portfolio. The Company has been broaden-
ing its focus to include discovery and development of new
chemical entities. The focus of this discovery effort is to
identify new drug candidates directed toward serving unmet
medical needs. The Company is pursuing compounds in
the area of central nervous system disorders, including
behavioral disorders and pain management.

Continued Financial Strength 

For the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company 
had $336 million in cash and marketable securities. In the
first quarter of 2000, the Company issued $460 million in
5 percent Convertible Subordinated Debentures due in
2007. Sepracor’s consolidated cash position, as of the first
quarter of 2000, has never been stronger.  

We believe that we have a winning business strategy based
upon a proven innovative approach to drug development
and commercialization. I would like to congratulate
Sepracor’s shareholders and employees on beginning the
transition to a fully-integrated pharmaceutical company.  
In the coming year, I look forward to reporting on
Sepracor’s continuing progress.  

Sincerely,

Timothy J. Barberich
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

heartburn due to gastroesophageal reflux disease. 
(+)-Norcisapride is currently in Phase II clinical trials.
Sepracor will receive royalties on (+)-norcisapride sales 
upon launch in countries where patents have been issued.

• Schering-Plough has licensed desloratadine, an active-
metabolite form of loratadine marketed as CLARITIN®, 
the world’s leading nonsedating antihistamine. In 
October 1999, Schering‘s New Drug Application (NDA) 
for desloratadine was filed with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) and it is currently under review.
Sepracor will receive royalties on sales upon launch of 
desloratadine.

• Sepracor has licensed to UCB Farchim SA all of Sepracor’s
issued patents and pending patent applications covering 
levocetirizine in Europe and other countries, except the
U.S. and Japan. Levocetirizine is an isomer of ZYRTEC®,
Europe’s leading antihistamine. UCB intends to file a
Marketing Authorization Application (MAA), the European
equivalent of a New Drug Application (NDA), in the first
half of 2000. UCB will pay Sepracor royalties upon first
product sale.

• ALLEGRA®  brand fexofenadine hydrochloride is Hoechst
Marion Roussel’s nonsedating antihistamine ALLEGRA®.
Sepracor and Hoechst Marion Roussel (now Aventis) have
settled their patent interference and Sepracor is currently
receiving royalties on sales in Europe of the fexofenadine
product. Sepracor will receive royalties on sales in the U.S.
beginning mid-February 2001. 
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Sepracor Marketed Products 
Ten Potential Launches Over Four Years

Norastemizole
(+)-zopiclone

(R,R)-formoterol
(S)-doxazosin

(S)-oxybutynin
(+)-DMZ (Anxiety)

(+)-DDMS (ADHD)
(+)-DDMS (Depression)

(—)-DDMS (Stress Incontinence)
(—)-DDMS (Erectile Dysfunction)

Earliest Potential Year of Launch
’01 ’02 ’03 ’04

Respiratory CNS Urology

Sepracor Primary Care Sales Force Could Be
Supported By Co-Promotion Specialty Sales Forces
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Nineteen Hundred and Ninety-
Nine was a momentous year for
Sepracor. With the launch of
XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol HCl)
inhalation solution sold through
Sepracor’s specialty sales force,
we began the transition to a 
fully-integrated pharmaceutical
company. The success of
XOPENEX™ demonstrates our
capability as an organization to
execute in the areas of preclinical
and clinical development,

process development, manufacturing, regulatory, as well as
direct marketing and sale of a proprietary drug.

Direct Sales and Marketing of ICE™ Pharmaceuticals 

Last May, Sepracor launched its first directly-marketed
drug, XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol HCl) inhalation solution,
in two dosage strengths for nebulizer use. XOPENEX™ is
currently indicated for the treatment or prevention of
bronchospasm in patients 12 years of age and older with
reversible obstructive airway disease, such as asthma.
XOPENEX™ is a proprietary, single-isomer version of the
best-selling bronchodilator, racemic albuterol.

XOPENEX™ is commercialized through a co-promotion 
agreement with the Ross Products Division of Abbott
Laboratories. Sepracor’s 65-person respiratory sales 
force calls on pulmonologists, allergists and primary care
physicians in U.S. hospitals and clinics. Ross adds over 
300 product specialists providing coverage to pediatric
physicians in the U.S. The Sepracor sales force is also 
complemented in the field by a dedicated contract sales
force of 155 territory representatives from Innovex, a 
division of Quintiles Transnational Corporation. 

Today, over 500 sales representatives are promoting
XOPENEX™ to physicians in offices, clinics and hospitals 
in the U.S. At the end of the first quarter 2000, we are
approaching a 10 percent market share of new prescriptions
written for beta-agonist unit dose vials.

Commercialization of ICE Pharmaceuticals 

As Sepracor’s ICE Pharmaceutical pipeline continues to
expand, and our candidates progress into late-stage trials, 
we will seek additional co-promotion alliances modeled 
after the XOPENEX™ commercialization strategy. The 

co-promotion approach to sales and marketing makes it
possible for us to achieve the required detailing levels need-
ed to successfully market and sell pharmaceutical products. 

As additional ICE Pharmaceuticals reach the market,
Sepracor hopes to: (1) expand the focus of its primary care
sales organization; (2) add additional sales representatives;
and (3) attract new co-promotion partners.

The earliest potential product launch dates for Sepracor ICE
Pharmaceutical direct sale candidates are as follows: 2001 
for norastemizole; 2002 for (+)-zopiclone and (R,R)-for-
moterol; 2003 for (S)-doxazosin, (+)-desmethylzopiclone,
and (S)-oxybutynin; and 2004 for (+)-didesmethyl-
sibutramine for depression, (+)-didesmethylsibutramine 
for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), 
(-)-didesmethylsibutramine for erectile dysfunction, and 
(-)-didesmethylsibutramine for urinary incontinence.
Sepracor’s direct sales and marketing organization has the
potential to launch ten ICE Pharmaceuticals over the next
four years. 

Sepracor Out-licensing Agreements 

The Company believes that certain compounds are more
appropriate for out-licensing arrangements. Sepracor’s
existing agreements include the following:

• Eli Lilly and Company plans to develop and globally 
commercialize (R)-fluoxetine, a single-isomer form of 
the active ingredient in PROZAC®, subject to approval of
the Federal Trade Commission. (R)-Fluoxetine is currently
in large-scale clinical trials. Sepracor will receive royalties 
on the (R)-fluoxetine product upon launch.

• Johnson & Johnson is developing (+)-norcisapride, a
potentially improved isomer of an active metabolite of
PROPULSID®. PROPULSID® (cisapride) is indicated 
for the symptomatic treatment of patients with nocturnal

To Our Shareholders:
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Sepracor and Abbott’s Ross Products Division 
Co-Promote XOPENEX™
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agreement, all legal actions outside the U.S. have been 
settled and Sepracor will receive royalties on fexofenadine
products effective March 1, 1999, in countries where it has
issued patents.

Desloratadine … An active metabolite of the world’s best-selling 
nonsedating antihistamine, Schering’s CLARITIN®. 
In October 1999, Schering submitted a New Drug
Application for desloratadine to the FDA. In addition,
Schering-Plough also submitted a centralized Marketing
Authorization Application (MAA) for desloratadine to the
European Medicines Evaluation Agency of the European
Union (EU). Approval of this centralized Marketing
Authorization would result in unified labeling for deslorata-
dine that would be valid in all 15 EU member states. 

Schering will pay royalties to Sepracor on sales of deslorata-
dine beginning at product launch in countries where patents
have been issued. Royalties will escalate over time and upon
achievement of certain sales and other milestones.

representatives from Sepracor, Ross and Innovex detailing
XOPENEX™ to physicians’ offices.

Sepracor is developing levalbuterol for use in additional
oral and inhaled delivery systems. Levalbuterol delivered 
in a metered dose inhaler (MDI) is in a Phase II clinical
study. In addition, a Phase III XOPENEX™ pediatric 
trial is underway. Sepracor has submitted a Marketing
Authorization Application (MAA) for XOPENEX™   

inhalation solution to the United Kingdom.

ALLEGRA® (fexofenadine HCl) … Sepracor’s patents relating to
fexofenadine are licensed or assigned worldwide to Hoechst Marion Roussel,
Inc. The fexofenadine product was developed and marketed by Hoechst
Marion Roussel, Inc. as ALLEGRA® brand fexofenadine hydrochloride. 
In September, Sepracor and Hoechst Marion Roussel, Inc.,
(now Aventis), settled all patent issues between the two com-
panies involving the nonsedating antihistamine developed
and marketed by Hoechst Marion Roussel. Under the terms
of a U.S. agreement, Sepracor and Hoechst Marion Roussel
have settled an ongoing arbitrated patent interference
involving their U.S. patent properties, and Hoechst Marion
Roussel now owns the Sepracor patent properties. 

Hoechst Marion Roussel has also obtained an exclusive
license to various other Sepracor U.S. patent applications
related to fexofenadine. Sepracor will receive royalties on
fexofenadine sales in the U.S. upon expiration of Hoechst
Marion Roussel’s composition of matter patent in mid-
February 2001. 

Under the terms of a separate ex-U.S. agreement, Hoechst
Marion Roussel has obtained an exclusive license to
Sepracor's patents that had been the subject of litigation 
in Europe, as well as various other patent oppositions
between the two companies outside the U.S. Under this
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Parent Drug 
Compound Parent Drug Estimated
Potential Benefits Company Indication 1999 WW Sales Status

Developed and marketed worldwide by Aventis.

ALLEGRA® (fexofenadine HCl)* SELDANE® Allergy $800 million Launched
reduced cardiovascular side effects Aventis (Hoechst Marion Roussel) nonsedating antihistamine (ALLEGRA®) 1996

Developed by Sepracor and marketed by Sepracor and Abbott’s Ross Products Division.

XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol HCl) VENTOLIN®/PROVENTIL® Asthma $1.5 billion Launched
safety and efficacy at low dose Glaxo Wellcome/Schering-Plough short-acting bronchodilator 1999

Developed and to be marketed by Schering Corporation.

Desloratadine CLARITIN® Allergy $2.7 billion NDA filed
NDA under review Schering-Plough nonsedating antihistamine October 1999

Pharmaceutical Products Launched or
Awaiting NDA Approval

New Drug Applications (NDA) for ALLEGRA® and
XOPENEX™ have been approved by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA). Currently, another pharma-
ceutical compound is under NDA review; two are in Phase
III clinical trials; six are in Phase II studies; three are in
Phase I studies; and nine pharmaceutical candidates are
under preclinical investigation. 

XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol HCl) … A single-isomer bron-
chodilator for the treatment or prevention of bronchospasm for patients with
reversible obstructive airway disease, such as asthma.
In May 1999, Sepracor launched its first directly marketed
ICE Pharmaceutical, XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol HCl)
inhalation solution for use with a nebulizer. XOPENEX™

is currently indicated for use in the treatment or preven-
tion of bronchospasm in patients 12 years of age and older 
with reversible obstructive airway disease, such as asthma.
Asthma affects approximately 17 million Americans,
including 5 million children.

In September 1999, Sepracor entered into a contract 
with Innovex, a division of Quintiles Transnational
Corporation, to supplement the Company’s 65-person
respiratory sales force with 155 contract sales representa-
tives. In November 1999, Sepracor formed a co-promotion
alliance with the Ross Products Division of Abbott
Laboratories for XOPENEX™ in the U.S.  This arrange-
ment provides expanded coverage for XOPENEX™ with
pediatricians and allows Sepracor to focus its own direct
selling efforts to hospitals, allergists, pulmonologists and
primary care physicians. In total, there are over 500 sales

Ana Kassab, a Sepracor
sales representative, 
discusses XOPENEX™ with 
Dr. Rene Lopez-Guerrero.

1999 Estimated Worldwide Sales of Short-Acting
and Long-Acting Bronchodilators for Asthma
Therapy were $2.7 Billion

*Fexofenadine product developed and marketed by Hoechst Marion Roussel, Inc. (“HMRI”) as ALLEGRA® brand fexofenadine hydrochloride. 
Sepracor has licensed or assigned its related patents worldwide to HMRI.

Short-Acting Bronchodilators
(VENTOLIN®/PROVENTIL®)

$1.5 Billion

Long-Acting Bronchodilators
(SEREVENT®/FORADIL®/ATOCK®)

$1.2 Billion
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Many drugs currently on the market are
administered in a form that is biochemically 
modified in the body
(metabolized) to
become a new 
therapeutically active
form. The new active form,
an “active metabolite”, 
may be administered as a
drug itself, and may exhibit lower
side effects, greater efficacy, or improved
potency when compared to the parent 
drug. Sepracor has also shown that some
active metabolites offer the opportunity for
additional indications.

For example, (+)-norcisapride is an isomer 
of the active metabolite of PROPULSID®.
PROPULSID® has the potential to cause car-
diac side effects and drug-drug interactions. 
Based on preclinical studies, we believe 
(+)-norcisapride will eliminate the risk of
these serious side effects and has the poten-
tial to increase the efficacy, improve the 
dosing for gastroesophageal reflux disease,
and create an opportunity for additional 
indications such as irritable bowel syndrome
and bulimia. 

Drug candidates that are active metabolites
or isomers of active metabolites include:
desloratadine, norastemizole, (+)-norcis-
apride, (+)-didesmethylsibutramine, 
(-)-didesmethylsibutramine, (+)-desmethyl-
zopiclone, and desmethylvenlafaxine. 

Active-metabolites…
potentially fewer side
effects with increased
potency

Many chiral molecules exist in mirror image
forms called optical isomers. These com-
pounds, which
are referred to
as "racemic
mixtures", 
contain an equal
amount of each 
isomer. Over 500 racemic
drugs are on the market today. 

Although chemically identical, isomers 
differ in their three-dimensional structures.
Therefore, different isomers often interact 
differently with biological processes in the
body. Often only one isomer of the pair in a
racemic mixture is responsible for the drug’s
efficacy, while the other may be inert or may
cause undesirable side effects.

Sepracor’s single-isomer ICE™ Pharmaceuticals
have the potential to be purer, safer, and
more efficacious versions of the original
racemic drug. Since the parent drugs have
well-known efficacy and safety profiles, ICE
Pharmaceuticals can often be developed with
less technical, financial and regulatory risk
than new chemical entities. 

Single-isomer compounds in human clinical
trials include: levalbuterol, levocetirizine, 
(R)-fluoxetine, (R,R)-formoterol, (S)-oxybu-
tynin, (S)-fluoxetine, (+)-zopiclone, and 
(S)-doxazosin. 

Sepracor… a leader in   
the development of
single-isomer drugs



terms of the agreement, Lilly shall have the worldwide
exclusive right to develop and market products con-
taining (R)-fluoxetine. Lilly will be responsible for all 
subsequent developmental work on (R)-fluoxetine,
regulatory submissions, product manufacturing, 
marketing, and sales. Upon the effective date of the
agreement, Sepracor is entitled to receive a milestone
payment and license fee totaling $20 million.
Sepracor also may receive up to $70 million in 
milestone payments based on the progression of 
(R)-fluoxetine through development. In addition,
Sepracor is entitled to royalties on (R)-fluoxetine
worldwide sales beginning upon first commercial sale.
This license agreement is subject to approval by the
Federal Trade Commission. PROZAC® (racemic 
fluoxetine) marketed by Eli Lilly and Company, with
worldwide sales of approximately $2.6 billion in 1999,
is a leading selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor for
the treatment of depression.

compound. Sepracor anticipates selling this compound,
if approved, through its sales force.

Levocetirizine … A single-isomer form of  ZYRTEC®, Europe’s 
best-selling antihistamine.  
In June 1999, UCB licensed all of Sepracor’s issued and
pending patents on levocetirizine for Europe. Sepracor
will receive escalating royalties on levocetirizine sales.
UCB has announced that it intends to file a Marketing
Authorization Application (MAA), the European 
equivalent of an NDA, for levocetirizine in 2000. The
companies believe, based on preclinical and clinical stud-
ies, that the levocetirizine isomer offers the opportunity
for an improved treatment for patients with allergies.
Sepracor has retained its rights for the U.S. and Japan.
Worldwide 1999 sales of ZYRTEC® (racemic cetirizine)
approached $1 billion, of which approximately $300 
million were European sales.

(R)-fluoxetine … The (R)-isomer of Eli Lilly’s PROZAC® has the
potential to offer greater flexibility in treating depression compared to 
currently marketed antidepressants.
The unique pharmacology of (R)-fluoxetine offers the
potential for more rapid onset of relief, greater efficacy
for treatment of depression, and fewer side effects such 
as sexual dysfunction. (R)-Fluoxetine also offers the
potential for treatment of additional indications, includ-
ing anxiety. Improvements in its pharmacokinetic profile
should allow for shorter washout and reduced drug-drug
interaction. Eli Lilly has independently initiated large-
scale efficacy studies with (R)-fluoxetine.

In December 1998, Sepracor announced a proposed
license agreement with Lilly relating to development 
and commercialization of (R)-fluoxetine. Under the
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1999 Estimated Worldwide Sales of Prescription
Antihistamines to Treat Allergies were
Approximately $4.7 Billion

Other
$150 Million

ALLEGRA®

$800 Million
ZYRTEC® 

$1 Billion

CLARITIN® 

$2.7 Billion

Phase III trials are conducted with a substantial number 
of patients to demonstrate the efficacy and safety of a 
compound. Phase III results will provide the majority of
support for marketing approval by the U.S. Food and 
Drug Administration (FDA). Two pharmaceutical candi-
dates are in Phase III and one candidate is in a large-scale
efficacy study. 

Norastemizole … A nonsedating antihistamine with the potential 
for improved potency, rapid onset, long duration of action, and reduced 
side effects.
Norastemizole, under development by Sepracor, is in
Phase III clinical trials. Completed clinical trials have 
indicated that norastemizole may potentially be a safe and
potent nonsedating antihistamine exhibiting both rapid
onset and long duration of action, making once-a-day
dosing possible. The Company believes that this profile,
if reflected in the labeling of the approved drug, would
give norastemizole a competitive advantage over currently
marketed nonsedating antihistamines. In clinical trials to
date, there have been no observed significant differences 
in incidence and severity of side effects, including cardiac
events as measured by an electrocardiogram (ECG),
between norastemizole and placebo or loratadine.
Sepracor and Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, have entered into
an agreement for norastemizole whereby Sepracor has
worldwide rights to all Johnson & Johnson intellectual
property covering prescription norastemizole products,
including the right, in exchange for royalty payments on
sales of norastemizole, to reference data from the New
Drug Application (NDA) for astemizole, the parent 

Pharmaceutical Candidates in Phase III
and Large-Scale Efficacy Studies

Parent Drug Earliest
Compound Parent Drug Expected Estimated Potential
Potential Benefits Company Indication 1999 WW Sales Launch

Norastemizole HISMANAL® Allergy $70 million 2001
improved potency, rapid onset, long duration Johnson & Johnson nonsedating antihistamine
of action and reduced cardiovascular side effects

To be developed and marketed by UCB.

Levocetirizine ZYRTEC® Allergy $1 billion 2001
reduced sedation UCB/Pfizer antihistamine

To be developed and marketed by Eli Lilly and Co.*

(R)-fluoxetine PROZAC® Depression $2.6 billion 2002
improved efficacy and new indications Eli Lilly and Co.

6

* Subject to Federal Trade Commission approval.



Sepracor will commercialize its ICE
Pharmaceuticals in one of three ways: 
developing candidates internally and selling
them directly through Sepracor’s sales force;
co-promoting with large pharmaceutical
companies; or out-licensing and receiving 
royalties on drug sales. 

Sepracor’s strong financial position 
combined with its transition into becoming
a fully-integrated pharmaceutical organiza-
tion, gives the Company flexibility in its
choice of commercialization strategies for
its ICE Pharmaceutical pipeline.

Sepracor’s decision to internally develop 
an ICE candidate and market the com-
pound through its sales force is based on
Sepracor’s proprietary position and the
breadth of the market size to be detailed 
by sales representatives. 

The potential for partnership is due to the
possibility of product differentiation with
the ICE Pharmaceutical and accelerated
introduction of a new drug. These are key
factors in determining which compounds 
to co-promote or out-license. 

ICE™ Pharmaceutical
commercialization
options

With the launch of Sepracor’s short-acting
bronchodilator, XOPENEX™ (levalbuterol
HCl), the Company’s sales force is build-
ing a strong presence in the respiratory
therapy market. Over time, and with the
introduction of additional products,
Sepracor plans to co-promote in those
markets where a partner’s specialty sales
force will complement the Company’s 
primary care sales organization. Sepracor
plans to continue to augment its primary
care sales organization over the next four
years to support the potential launch of
ten ICEPharmaceutical products that are
currently under development. 

As the Company continues to build its
sales organization, Sepracor’s sales force
may be supplemented with contract sales
personnel and strategic co-promotion
alliances with leading pharmaceutical 
marketers. For example, Sepracor currently
has a co-promotion alliance with the Ross
Products Division of Abbott Laboratories
for XOPENEX™.

Direct sales, an important
part of Sepracor’s 
commercialization 
strategy



(R,R)-formoterol … This single-isomer bronchodilator has the
potential of combining the benefits of rapid onset of action with long 
duration of action.
(R,R)-Formoterol is a long-acting, single-isomer 
bronchodilator that has a rapid onset of action. (R,R)-
Formoterol could provide a treatment option presently
unavailable to patients with asthma and emphysema. If
approved for marketing, (R,R)-formoterol is expected to
be sold through Sepracor’s primary care sales force along
with Sepracor’s short-acting bronchodilator, XOPENEX™.
The Company is currently completing a Phase IIB clinical
trial on (R,R)-formoterol.

National Sleep Foundation, sleep disorders affect 
approximately 84 million people in the United States.

(+)-norcisapride … A potentially safer active metabolite of 
Johnson & Johnson’s drug PROPULSID®.
PROPULSID® is indicated for the symptomatic treatment of
patients with nocturnal heartburn due to gastroesophageal
reflux disease (GERD). Due to the sometimes serious and
potentially fatal side effect of cardiac toxicity, PROPULSID®

is only available in a limited access program. Preclinical
studies conducted by Sepracor have indicated that (+)-nor-
cisapride has the potential to treat GERD and other 
indications including emesis, bulimia, and irritable bowel
syndrome without the risk of cardiac toxicity. In July 1998,
Sepracor licensed its norcisapride rights to Janssen
Pharmaceutica, N.V., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson
& Johnson, and is entitled to receive royalties on product
sales in countries where a patent has issued. Royalties begin
upon the first commercial sale and escalate upon achieve-
ment of sales volume milestones. (+)-Norcisapride is in
Phase II clinical development. 

(S)-oxybutynin … Sepracor’s single-isomer candidate for 
urinary incontinence has the potential to treat urinary frequency and 
incontinent episodes.
In a Phase II, 186-patient, double blind placebo controlled
pilot trial, Sepracor demonstrated that (S)-oxybutynin 
significantly improved both urinary frequency (18 percent
better than placebo) and urinary incontinence (30 percent
better than placebo) while being well tolerated (15 percent
incidence of moderate/severe dry mouth). Currently,
Sepracor is nearing completion of its large-scale 800-
patient Phase IIB dose-ranging clinical trial. Urinary incon-
tinence affects approximately 17 million people in the U.S.
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Phase II studies enroll patients for clinical testing and 
are designed to determine the optimum dose and gather
efficacy data. Between Sepracor and its corporate partners,
six pharmaceutical candidates are in Phase II clinical trials.  

(+)-zopiclone … Sepracor’s single-isomer version of this widely used
insomnia medication may offer improved sleep maintenance with a lower 
incidence of nocturnal awakening. 
Sepracor has initiated a 400-patient clinical efficacy trial
for (+)-zopiclone in the treatment of insomnia. The
Company plans to develop two doses of (+)-zopiclone
intended for either the maintenance of a full sleep cycle 
or for the treatment of patients who have difficulty falling
asleep. In the higher dose, the duration of action may 
result in better maintenance of sleep with a lower incidence
of nocturnal awakening. Lower doses of (+)-zopiclone have
the potential to induce sleep when a shorter duration of
action is required. Sepracor has entered into an agreement
with Rhone Poulenc-Rorer SA (RPR), now Aventis, where-
by Sepracor has exclusively licensed RPR’s preclinical, 
clinical and post-marketing surveillance data package 
relating to zopiclone and its isomers and metabolites, for
the U.S. market. Gaining access to the RPR data allows
Sepracor to potentially accelerate the (+)-zopiclone pro-
gram. Racemic zopiclone, marketed by RPR under the
brand names of IMOVANE® and AMOBAN®, is available 
in approximately 80 countries worldwide but has never
been submitted for approval in the U.S.  According to the

Pharmaceutical Candidates in 
Phase II Studies

Parent Drug Earliest
Compound Parent Drug Expected Estimated Potential
Potential Benefits Company Indication 1999 WW Sales Launch

(+)-zopiclone IMOVANE® Sleep Disorders $160 million 2002
improved sleep maintenance, reduced side effects Rhone-Poulenc Rorer

To be developed and marketed by Johnson & Johnson.

(+)-norcisapride PROPULSID® GERD and $1.1 billion 2002
reduced side effects, new indications Johnson & Johnson additional indications

(R,R)–formoterol FORADIL®/ATOCK® Asthma $250 million 2002
rapid onset of action and long Glaxo Wellcome/Yamanouchi long-acting bronchodilator
duration of action

(S)-oxybutynin DITROPAN® Urge Incontinence $200 million 2003
reduced anticholinergic side effects Alza frequency and incontinence
including dry mouth, restlessness, 
nausea, and heart palpitations
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1999 Estimated Worldwide Sales of Urology
Products were over $5.5 Billion

Adult Diapers & Devices
$2 Billion

BPH
$1.7 Billion

Stress and Urge
Incontinence
$725 Million

Erectile Dysfunction
$1.1 Billion



The opportunity to improve existing drugs
is the cornerstone of Sepracor’s ICE
Pharmaceutical strategy. The Company
selects for development single isomers or
active metabolites of widely-sold drugs that
have the potential to become compounds
that are differentiated from the parent
drugs in terms of clinical effectiveness and
side-effect profile.

Sepracor has a pipeline of ICE Pharma-
ceuticals, each of which the Company
believes has a strong probability of 
regulatory approval and commercial 
success. The FDA’s approval of XOPENEX™, 
the first ICE Pharmaceutical developed and
sold directly by the Company’s sales force,
validates Sepracor’s business model.

Sepracor’s ICE Pharmaceuticals address
large and growing markets. Worldwide 
1999 sales for the parent drugs of ICE
Pharmaceuticals under development by
Sepracor and its partners totaled almost
$20 billion.

Two products are currently on the 
market, one additional pharmaceutical
compound is awaiting regulatory approval,
and eleven additional candidates are in
human clinical development. 

Sepracor ICE™

Pharmaceuticals… 
a proven strategy

Sepracor’s ICE Pharmaceutical patent 
portfolio is a key component of the
Company’s valuable business strategy.
Sepracor has been granted over 30 ICE
patents in the U.S. and has many more
pending. Sepracor’s intellectual property
position benefits the Company by providing
exclusivity. Also, the intellectual property
provides a position from which to partner. 

Sepracor frequently seeks out-licensing 
agreements with the current marketer of an
ICE Pharmaceutical’s parent compound in
order to accelerate the development and
marketing of the new drug. Pharmaceutical
companies partner with Sepracor because
often ICE compounds may provide patients
with safety or efficacy advances as com-
pared to other drugs in the class. Also, 
the potential for additional indications in
some of the ICE compounds, as compared
to the parent drug, adds new value to the
franchise. 

In addition, partnering with an innovator
company provides the opportunity to refer-
ence the available preclinical and clinical
data in the ICE Pharmaceutical regulatory
package. This can reduce the cost of clinical
work necessary for regulatory filing and
accelerate the introduction of new products.  

Sepracor capitalizes on
ICE™ Pharmaceutical
intellectual property



may offer improvement in the treatment of disorders
including depression and attention deficit hyperactivity 
disorder (ADHD).

(-)-didesmethylsibutramine ... Sepracor is exploring the demethy-
lated opposite isomer of (+)-didesmethylsibutramine for urology indications.
(-)-Didesmethylsibutramine, (-)-DDMS, is a potent 
norepinephrine and dopamine reuptake inhibitor that is
being investigated for urological disorders such as erectile
dysfunction and urinary stress incontinence. A Phase I 
clinical study of (-)-DDMS is on track for the first half 
of 2000. 

(+)-desmethylzopiclone … A  single isomer of an active metabolite of
zopiclone has the potential for expanded indications. 
Preclinical studies have demonstrated that (+)-desmethyl-
zopiclone, (+)-DMZ, has potent anxiolytic activity without
significant sedation. Sepracor plans to develop this com-
pound as a treatment for anxiety. The Company plans to
file an Investigational New Drug application (IND) in 
2000 on (+)-DMZ.

(S)-lansoprazole … A single-isomer form of PREVACID® has the
potential for more consistent dosing and improved efficacy.
PREVACID®, with worldwide sales of approximately 
$3 billion in 1999, is marketed in the U.S. by TAP
Pharmaceuticals. This proton pump inhibitor drug is used
to treat diseases associated with excess gastric acid secretions,
primarily gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). Based on
preclinical studies, Sepracor believes that (S)-lansoprazole
may offer more consistent dosing and improved efficacy, 
as compared to PREVACID®. (S)-Lansoprazole is in 
preclinical studies.

(-)-pantoprazole ... A single-isomer form of PANTOZOL™ has the
potential for more consistent dosing and improved efficacy. 
PANTOZOL™ is marketed by Byk-Gulden and American
Home Products for the treatment of GERD. Worldwide sales
of proton pump inhibitors, a class of drugs used to treat
ulcers and GERD, were over $12 billion in 1999. Sepracor's 
preclinical studies suggest that (-)-pantoprazole has the
potential for more consistent dosing and improved efficacy.
(-)-Pantoprazole is in preclinical studies.

Sepracor has many additional single-isomer and active-
metabolite compounds under investigation. Sepracor ICE™

Pharmaceutical candidates (parent drug in parentheses) 
in preclinical studies include: hydroxy bupropion 
(Glaxo Wellcome’s ZYBAN™) for depression and ADHD; 
nefazodone metabolite (Bristol-Myers Squibb’s SERZONE®)
for anxiety; desmethylvenlafaxine (American Home Products’
EFFEXOR®) for CNS indications; (R)-ondansetron (Glaxo
Wellcome’s ZOFRAN®) for nausea; (-)-amlodipine (Pfizer’s
NORVASC®) for hypertension; and (S)-salmeterol (Glaxo
Wellcome’s SEREVENT®) for asthma.
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Pharmaceutical Candidates in Phase I
and Preclinical Studies

Phase I clinical studies are designed to demonstrate safety 
in a small group of healthy volunteers. Sepracor has three 
ICE™ Pharmaceuticals in Phase I clinical studies. In addi-
tion, nine more ICE candidates are currently undergoing
preclinical testing.

(S)-doxazosin … This single-isomer version of Pfizer’s best-selling
benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) drug, CARDURA®, may show reduced
orthostatic hypotension leading to more convenient dosing and the potential 
to improve efficacy. 
Sepracor's preclinical studies indicate that (S)-doxazosin
exhibits the potential for a significant reduction in ortho-
static hypotension and could be more potent than the 
parent drug in humans. Sepracor believes that the ICE
Pharmaceutical version could reduce the cost of treatment
by reducing the number of doctor’s visits required for
titration. While further extensive studies and clinical work
are needed to determine the efficacy and safety profile of
this compound, Sepracor believes (S)-doxazosin may offer
a significant pharmacoeconomic benefit as compared to
other pharmacologic treatments for BPH. (S)-Doxazosin is
currently in a Phase I clinical study.

(+)-didesmethylsibutramine … This single isomer of an active
metabolite of Knoll Pharmaceutical’s MERIDIA® has the potential to provide
expanded central nervous system indications with reduced side effects.
Sepracor has initiated a Phase I clinical study on 
(+)-didesmethylsibutramine, (+)-DDMS, and plans to
commence clinical studies on multiple indications for cen-
tral nervous system disorders in the second half of 2000.
Sepracor’s preclinical studies indicate that (+)-DDMS 
is a potent serotonin, norepinephrine and dopamine reup-
take inhibitor. This unique triple mechanism of action 

Parent Drug Earliest
Compound Parent Drug Expected Estimated Potential
Potential Benefits Company Indication 1999 WW Sales Launch

(S)-doxazosin CARDURA® Benign Prostatic $850 million 2003
reduced orthostatic hypotension and improved efficacy Pfizer Hyperplasia (BPH)

(+)-desmethylzopiclone, (+)-DMZ IMOVANE® Anxiety — 2003
new CNS indications Rhone-Poulenc Rorer

(+)-didesmethylsibutramine, (+)-DDMS MERIDIA® Depression and ADHD — 2004
new CNS indications  Knoll Pharmaceutical

(–)-didesmethylsibutramine, (–)-DDMS MERIDIA® Stress Incontinence and — 2004
new urology indications Knoll Pharmaceutical Erectile Dysfunction
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1999 Estimated Worldwide Sales of Central
Nervous System Products were over $17 Billion

Depression
$11.5 Billion

Anxiety
$3 Billion

Sleep Disorder
$2 Billion

ADHD
$700 Million



A key ICE™ Pharmaceutical commercializa-
tion strategy for Sepracor is to out-license
compounds to pharmaceutical companies.
Sepracor selects out-licensing partners
that have development resources and
experience required to expeditiously move
the compound through the development
cycle and marketing expertise and infra-
structure to educate physicians and
patients about the new drug. 

For example, Schering-Plough licensed
desloratadine, the active metabolite of
CLARITIN® in December 1997, and 
filed a New Drug Application (NDA) with
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) in October 1999. 

Sepracor has agreements with some of 
the most successful pharmaceutical com-
panies in the world. Sepracor’s alliances
include agreements for the following: 
Abbott’s Ross Products Division for
XOPENEX™; Eli Lilly for the single isomer
of PROZAC® (pending Federal Trade
Commission approval); Johnson &
Johnson for the active metabolite of
PROPULSID®; Schering-Plough for the
active metabolite of CLARITIN®; UCB
Farchim SA for a single isomer of
ZYRTEC®; and Aventis for ALLEGRA®.

Increasingly, Sepracor intends to develop
drug candidates through the NDA submis-
sion and then either market the drug itself
or enter into a co-promotion agreement.

Commercialization 
partners extend
Sepracor’s reach

Clinical trials for new chemical entities
(NCEs) that have the potential to 
become drugs can cost hundreds of mil-
lions of dollars. NCE clinical work can 
be drawn out over a decade or more, 
before the compound receives regulatory
approval. Many NCE drug candidates
don’t make it through strenuous safety
and efficacy trials. 

In contrast, the safety and efficacy of 
the parent drugs of ICE Pharmaceuticals
are often well understood before clinical
trials begin. Parent drugs have been suc-
cessfully taken through clinical studies
and may have been on the market for
years. Therefore, preclinical and clinical
development of single-isomer or active-
metabolite ICE Pharmaceuticals may be
accomplished quickly and at relatively 
low cost and risk.

In some cases, the ICE strategy has
offered the opportunity for a clinical
development timeframe of two years or
less. For example, Sepracor received U.S.
Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
approval of its New Drug Application
(NDA) in March 1999 for XOPENEX™.
The clinical development time for
XOPENEX™ prior to the NDA filing was
approximately two years.

An accelerated pace
through clinical trials for  
ICE™ Pharmaceuticals 



synthesis – allows the Company to quickly produce
libraries of compounds, which are then suitable for
biological evaluation in relevant high-throughput
screening assays. These compound libraries are rapidly
assessed for drug-like properties, which include 
specific disease-associated receptor binding or enzyme
inhibition, as well as absorption, metabolism and toxi-
cological profiles. These techniques have significantly
increased the productivity of the medicinal chemist 
and dramatically increased the frequency at which com-
pounds with more drug-like properties are identified
and chosen for further investigation.

The focus of the Company’s discovery effort is to 
identify new drug candidates directed toward serving
unmet medical needs in the area of central nervous 
system disorders, including behavioral disorders and
pain management.

Sepracor Drug Discovery 
As the Company continues towards its vision of becoming 
a fully-integrated pharmaceutical company, Sepracor is
broadening its development focus to include discovery and
development of New Chemical Entities (NCEs).

Sepracor’s strong ICE Pharmaceutical product portfolio
will carry the Company into the next decade. However,
future growth can be further augmented through discovery
and development of new chemical compounds. These
NCEs are expected to complement Sepracor’s current 
ICE Pharmaceutical pipeline.

Sepracor’s heavy reliance on combinatorial chemistry 
techniques – with robotics and computer directed 
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Sepracor’s New Chemical Entities

Sepracor Lead Indication Receptor/ Status
Compound Enzyme

SEP-155379 Pain µ-opioid Lead

Serotonin
SEP-109835 Anxiety 5HT3 Lead
SEP-155553 Anxiety/ 5HT2A Lead

Depression

SEP-160350 Pain A1 Lead

Drug Discovery

Functional
Genomics

Preclinical and
Clinical Trials

BIOINFORMATICS
Computer Control

Lead Compounds

Many Compounds Disease Targets

“Hits”

Combinatorial
Chemistry

High-Throughput
Screening
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Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share data) 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:

Product sales $ 16,383 $ 155 $ 117 $ 482 $ 2,143

License fees and royalties 3,886 5,293 2,078 333 900

Collaborative research and development 2,390 4,761 — 25 1,036

Total revenues 22,659 10,209 2,195 840 4,079

Costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue 4,919 575 541 521 2,259

Research and development 122,400 61,797 41,230 33,540 18,988

Selling, general, administrative and patent costs 65,336 30,123 12,609 11,079 12,174

Total costs and expenses 192,655 92,495 54,380 45,140 33,421

Loss from operations (169,996) (82,286) (52,185) (44,300) (29,342)

Other income (expense):

Equity in investee losses (1) (3,246) (7,482) (2,755) (17,539) (808)

Interest income 21,896 13,191 5,639 6,564 2,923

Interest expense (33,078) (16,969) (5,976) (6,140) (2,077)

Gain on sale of ChiRex Inc. — — 30,069 — —

Other 272 (60) 331 (3) (802)

Net loss before minority interests (184,152) (93,606) (24,877) (61,418) (30,106)

Minority interests in subsidiary 1,438 534 428 1,030 3,071

Net loss from continuing operations (182,714) (93,072) (24,449) (60,388) (27,035)

Discontinued operations:

Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of minority interests) (2) (345) (211) (1,674) 278 (6,377)

Net loss $(183,059) $ (93,283) $(26,123) $ (60,110) $ (33,412)

Net loss applicable to common shares (3) $(183,059) $ (93,433) $(26,723) $ (60,710) $ (33,412)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share from Continuing operations $ (2.77) $ (1.61) $ (0.44) $ (1.12) $ (.62)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share from Discontinued operations $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ (0.04) $ (0.00) $ (.15)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (2.77) $ (1.62) $ (0.48) $ (1.12) $ (.77)

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per Common share:

Basic and diluted 66,049 57,826 55,198 54,065 43,275

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and marketable securities $ 335,823 $499,597 $ 92,560 $103,650 $143,250

Total assets 406,635 549,260 126,388 139,831 193,743

Long-term debt 490,611 491,910 83,736 84,371 84,510

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (155,705) 4,428 12,368 30,278 88,984

(1) Includes a write-off of a guarantee of a HemaSure line of credit in 1998 and one-time charges from ChiRex’s initial public offering and HemaSure’s loss from 

discontinued operations in 1996.  See Footnote C - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Discontinued operations relate to BioSphere Medical, Inc.  See Footnote I - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Includes $150,000, $600,000 and $600,000 in preferred stock dividends in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.  See Footnote B - Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements.

Sepracor Inc. Selected Financial Data
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Effective January 1998, Sepracor and Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V., 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson (“Janssen”), entered 
into the Norastemizole Agreement, relating to the development and mar-
keting of norastemizole, a third generation nonsedating antihistamine.
Under the terms of the Norastemizole Agreement, the companies were to
jointly fund the development of norastemizole, and Janssen had an option
to acquire certain rights regarding the product in the U.S. and abroad. In
May 1999, Sepracor announced that Johnson & Johnson elected not to
exercise its option to co-promote norastemizole under the Norastemizole
Agreement. Sepracor will continue to fund clinical development and mar-
keting of the drug, which is currently in Phase III clinical trials. Under the
terms of the Norastemizole Agreement, Sepracor has worldwide rights to
all Johnson & Johnson intellectual property covering norastemizole, includ-
ing the right in exchange for royalty payments on sales of norastemizole to
reference data from Johnson & Johnson’s astemizole NDA, for manufac-
ture, development, and marketing of prescription norastemizole products.
Sepracor anticipates selling this compound, if approved, through an
expanded respiratory sales force.

In July 1998, Sepracor entered into a second license agreement with
Janssen (the “Norcisapride Agreement”) giving Janssen exclusive worldwide
rights to Sepracor’s patents covering (+)-norcisapride, an isomer of the
active metabolite of Propulsid. Under the terms of the Norcisapride Agree-
ment, Sepracor has exclusively licensed to Janssen rights to develop and
market the norcisapride product worldwide. Under the Norcisapride
Agreement, Janssen would pay Sepracor royalties on norcisapride sales, if
any, beginning at product launch. The royalty rate to be paid to Sepracor
will escalate upon the achievement of sales volume milestones.

In December 1998, Sepracor entered into a license agreement (the “Lilly
Agreement”) with Eli Lilly and Company (“Lilly”) under which Sepracor
granted to Lilly exclusive worldwide rights to Sepracor’s patents covering
(R)-fluoxetine. (R)-Fluoxetine is a modified form of an active ingredient
found in Prozac, marketed by Lilly. Under the terms of the Lilly Agreement,
and subject to clearance under the Hart Scott Rodino Antitrust Improve-
ments Act of 1976 as amended (the “HSR Act”), Sepracor will receive 
an initial milestone payment and license fee of $20,000,000 and up to
$70,000,000 in additional milestone payments, based on the progression
of (R)-fluoxetine through development. In addition, Sepracor will receive
royalties on (R)-fluoxetine worldwide sales, if any, beginning upon first
commercial sale. Effectiveness of the Lilly Agreement is subject to the HSR
Act. See “Risk Factors” and “Legal Proceedings” for information concern-
ing the Federal Trade Commission’s (“FTC”) review of the Lilly Agreement.

In June 1999, Sepracor announced a licensing agreement with UCB
Farchim SA, an affiliate of UCB (“UCB”), relating to levocetirizine, an 
isomer of ZYRTEC (racemic cetirizine). Under terms of the agreement,
Sepracor has exclusively licensed to UCB all of Sepracor’s issued patents
and pending patent applications regarding levocetirizine in Europe and all
other countries, except the United States and Japan. UCB will begin to pay
Sepracor royalties upon first product sales, if any, and royalties will esca-
late upon achievement of sales volume milestones.

In September 1999, HMRI and Sepracor amended the HMRI Agreement
to settle all patent issues with respect to fexofenadine, marketed by HMRI
as Allegra. Under the terms of a U.S. agreement, Sepracor and HMRI 
settled an ongoing arbitrated patent interference involving their U.S.
patent properties, and HMRI now owns the Sepracor patent properties
with respect to fexofenadine. HMRI also obtained an exclusive license to

various other Sepracor U.S. patent applications related to fexofenadine.
Sepracor will receive royalties on fexofenadine sales, if any, in the U.S.
upon expiration of HMRI’s composition of matter patent in mid-February
2001. Under the terms of a separate ex-U.S. agreement, HMRI obtained
an exclusive license to Sepracor’s patents that had been subject of litiga-
tion in Europe, as well as various other patent oppositions between the
two companies outside the U.S. Sepracor is entitled to royalties on fexofe-
nadine product sales effective March 1, 1999 in countries where Sepracor
has patents related to fexofenadine.

In October 1999, Sepracor entered into an agreement (the “Zopiclone
Agreement”) with Rhone-Poulenc Rorer, SA (now Aventis) (“RPR”), under
which Sepracor has exclusively licensed RPR’s preclinical, clinical and post-
marketing surveillance data package relating to zopiclone, its isomers and
metabolites, to develop, make, use and sell (+)-zopiclone in the U.S. RPR
will assign all U.S. patent applications relating to (+)-zopiclone to Sepra-
cor. Pursuant to the agreement, RPR retained the right under the licensed
data package to manufacture (+)-zopiclone in the U.S. for non-U.S. mar-
kets. In addition, Sepracor has paid a $5,000,000 license fee to RPR and
will pay a royalty to RPR on (+)-zopiclone product sales, if any, in the U.S.
Sepracor may also be required to pay RPR milestone payments.

In 1999, the Company’s significant component of cost of revenue was
cost of products sold. As a percentage of product sales, overall product
cost was 29% in 1999. Sepracor’s product cost as a percentage of its
product sales was 24% and BioSphere’s product costs represented 62% 
of its product sales. In 1998 and 1997 product sales and costs were not
material. In 1998 and 1997 cost of license fees and royalties was the
Company’s largest component of cost of revenue and represented 9% 
and 23% of license fee and royalty revenue in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Research and development expenses were $122,400,000, $61,797,000,
and $41,230,000 in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. The increase in
1999 from 1998 is primarily due to increased spending on preclinical and
clinical trials in Sepracor’s pharmaceutical programs, including a major
phase IIb/III study for (S)-oxybutynin; several major trials for Norastemi-
zole, including a pivotal chronic safety study and two Phase III seasonal
allergic rhinitis studies; a Phase II study for (R, R)-formoterol; several trials
for Levalbuterol, including a Phase III pediatric study for the nebulizer for-
mulation of Xopenex, two Phase II studies for the metered dose inhaler
formulation of Levalbuterol as well as accelerated spending on formula-
tion development for the metered dose inhaler. In 1999, preclinical and
clinical development programs were accelerated for several other pharma-
ceutical product candidates. As a result, in 1999 Sepracor filed INDs for
(+)-didesmethylsibutrimine, (S)-doxazosin and (+)-zopiclone. In addition 
to the preclinical activities, two Phase I studies were initiated for (+)-zopi-
clone. In addition, Sepracor incurred costs in 1999 for the initial payment
to RPR in consideration for the exclusive U.S. license granted under the
Zopiclone Agreement. The increase in 1998 from 1997 was primarily due
to an increase in spending on preclinical and clinical trials in Sepracor’s
pharmaceutical programs, including two major Phase III norastemizole 
trials, a fall seasonal allergic rhinitis study and a controlled allergen 
challenge study; a Phase II pediatric study for the syrup formulation of
Xopenex™; a Phase II study for (R,R)-formoterol; and a Phase I clinical 
trial for (R)-fluoxetine. These increases were partially offset by the fact
that Sepracor no longer consolidated Versicor results in 1998, while 1997
results included approximately $5,073,000 of research and development
costs attributable to Versicor.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  (continued)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview
Sepracor is a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on the cost-
effective development of safer, purer and more effective drugs that are
improved versions of widely-prescribed pharmaceutical compounds. The
Company develops and markets these drugs by leveraging its expertise in
chiral chemistry and pharmacology, and experience in conducting clinical
trials and seeking regulatory approvals for new drugs. Sepracor’s Improved
Chemical Entities (“ICEs”) pharmaceutical development program has
yielded an extensive portfolio of drug candidates intended to treat a broad
range of indications in respiratory care, urology, gastroenterology, psychia-
try and neurology. The Company is also broadening its development focus
to include discovery and development of new chemical entities.

In May 1999, Sepracor introduced Xopenex, a single-isomer form of the
leading bronchodilator, albuterol. Xopenex is the first pharmaceutical
product developed and commercialized by Sepracor.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Sepracor
Inc. (“Sepracor” or the “Company”) and its majority and wholly-owned
subsidiaries, including BioSphere Medical Inc. (“BioSphere,” formerly
“BioSepra”) and Sepracor Canada Limited. The consolidated financial
statements also include Sepracor’s affiliates, HemaSure Inc. (“HemaSure”)
and Versicor Inc. (“Versicor”) (a subsidiary from 1995 to December 1997).

BioSphere is an endovascular medical device company, pioneering the use
of patented and proprietary bioengineered microspheres as a new class of
embolotherapy devices. Sepracor owned approximately 64% of BioSphere
at December 31, 1999. On February 4, 2000, BioSphere announced that it
had completed a $5,900,000 private placement of common stock and war-
rants. As a result of this transaction, Sepracor’s ownership of BioSphere
decreased to approximately 59%.

At December 31, 1999, the Company owned approximately 27% of the
outstanding shares of common stock of HemaSure, a company applying its
proprietary filtration technology to develop products to increase the safety
of blood collection and transfusion. The Company accounts for its invest-
ment in HemaSure using the equity method of accounting. In February
1999, the Company entered into an agreement with HemaSure pursuant to
which Sepracor invested $2,000,000 in exchange for 1,333,334 shares of
HemaSure common stock and for warrants to purchase 667,000 of addi-
tional shares of HemaSure common stock. In October 1999, HemaSure
completed a private placement financing which resulted in Sepracor record-
ing a gain through additional paid-in capital of $820,000. The Company
also has a $5,000,000 liability at December 31, 1999 relating to a guaran-
tee of a line of credit for HemaSure. On March 3, 2000, HemaSure
announced that it had completed a $28,000,000 private placement of
common stock. As a result of this transaction, Sepracor’s ownership of
HemaSure decreased to approximately 22%.

Versicor develops novel drug candidates principally for the treatment of
infectious diseases. On December 10, 1997, Versicor completed a private
equity financing for approximately $22,000,000 and issued Series C 
Preferred Stock. As part of the transaction, Sepracor recognized a gain 
of approximately $5,688,000, which was recorded as an increase to addi-
tional paid-in capital. From December 10, 1997 through April 1999, 
Versicor results were recorded based on the equity method of accounting.
As a result of various Versicor private equity offerings in 1999, Sepracor
recorded a gain through additional paid-in capital of $1,077,000 in April
1999 and began accounting for its investment under the cost method 
of accounting. In 1999, Sepracor paid $1,000,000 to Versicor under a 

promissory note agreement which was ultimately converted into Versicor
preferred stock. As of December 31, 1999, Sepracor’s ownership in Versi-
cor was approximately 10% and was recorded at approximately $3,058,000.

In 1996, ChiRex Inc. (“ChiRex”), a corporation that was a combination 
of Sterling Organics Limited and the chiral chemistry business of Sepracor,
completed an initial public offering of common stock. In March 1997,
3,489,301 shares of ChiRex common stock held by Sepracor were sold. 
As a result of this transaction, Sepracor received $31,125,000 and recog-
nized a gain of $30,069,000, which was recorded as other income.

On January 20, 2000, the Company announced that its Board of Direc-
tors approved a two-for-one stock split which was paid in the form of a
100% stock dividend on February 25, 2000 to stockholders of record on
February 1, 2000. As a result, all references to share and per share data
have been adjusted.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997
Product sales were $16,383,000, $155,000, and $117,000, in 1999,
1998, and 1997, respectively. Sales of Xopenex, which Sepracor commer-
cially introduced in May 1999, accounted for approximately 86% of 1999
product sales. The increase in product revenue in 1999 from 1998 is pri-
marily due to the launch of Xopenex and also from an increase in medical
device sales at BioSphere. Product revenue in 1998 and 1997 remained
relatively consistent.

Collaborative research and development revenues were $2,390,000,
$4,761,000, and $0 in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. The decrease
in 1999 from 1998 is due to less revenue recognized under the collabora-
tion and license agreement dated as of January 1998 (the “Norastemizole
Agreement”), with Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V. (“Janssen”) for the devel-
opment of norastemizole. The increase in 1998 from 1997 was due to 
revenue recognized from the Norastemizole Agreement.

License fees and royalties were $3,886,000, $5,293,000, and $2,078,000
in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. The decrease in 1999 from 1998
resulted from the recording in 1998 of license revenue of $5,000,000 from
Schering-Plough Corporation (“Schering”), under a license agreement
dated December 1997 (the “DCL Agreement”) for descarboethoxylorata-
dine (“DCL”), offset by the recording, in 1999, of $3,621,000 of license
and royalty revenues from Hoechst Marion Roussel Inc. (now Aventis)
(“HMRI”) relating to Sepracor’s license agreement with HMRI (the “HMRI
Agreement”) for terfenadine carboxylate, marketed by HMRI as Allegra.
The increase in 1998 from 1997 related to the $5,000,000 of revenue rec-
ognized in 1998 under the DCL Agreement, versus 1997 license revenue
relating to a milestone payment of $1,875,000 from HMRI.

In December 1997, under the DCL Agreement, Sepracor licensed to 
Schering exclusive worldwide rights to Sepracor’s patents covering DCL, 
an active metabolite of loratadine which is used as an antihistamine. In
1998, Schering paid Sepracor an initial license fee of $5,000,000. Under
the terms of the DCL Agreement, Sepracor is entitled to receive royalties
on DCL sales, if any, beginning at product launch. Royalties paid to
Sepracor will escalate over time and upon the achievement of sales 
volume and other milestones.



1 7

In 1997, Sepracor entered into a put agreement with a commercial bank
pursuant to which Sepracor agreed to purchase $2,000,000 of indebtedness
of Versicor, in the event of a default by Versicor under its loan agreement
with the bank. In the event that the put right is exercised by the bank, the
bank will assign its security interest in the fixed assets of Versicor to Sepracor.
As of December 31, 1999, the put agreement remained outstanding.

In February 1998, Sepracor issued $189,475,000 of 6 1⁄4 % Convertible 
Subordinated Debentures due 2005 (the “6 1⁄4 % Debentures”). The 6 1⁄4 %
Debentures are convertible into Sepracor Common Stock, at the option 
of the holder, at a price of $23.685 per share and bear interest at 6 1⁄4 %
payable semi-annually, commencing on August 15, 1998. The 6 1⁄4 % 
Debentures are not redeemable by the Company prior to February 18,
2001. The Company may be required to repurchase the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures 
at the option of the holders in certain circumstances. As part of the sale 
of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures, Sepracor incurred approximately $6,105,000 of
offering costs, which were recorded as other assets and are being amortized
over seven years, the term of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures. The net proceeds to 
the Company after offering costs were $183,370,000. In February 2000,
$96,424,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 6 1⁄4 % Convertible 
Subordinated Debentures due 2005 were converted. Costs related to the
conversion of the Debentures, including pre-paid interest, premiums and
other costs, were approximately $7,497,000. Upon completion of this 
transaction, $93,048,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 6 1⁄4 %
Debentures remained outstanding as debt.

In 1998, Sepracor and Beckman Instruments, Inc. (“Beckman”) terminated
their Stock Purchase Agreement under which Beckman had acquired
625,000 shares of Sepracor Series B Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred
Stock. Sepracor paid Beckman the original purchase price of the stock plus
accrued dividends, totaling $6,850,000. 

In 1998, Sepracor converted the entire principal amount of 7% Convertible
Subordinated Debentures due 2002, aggregating $80,880,000 of Common
Stock at a conversion price of $9.84 per share. As a result of the conversion,
Sepracor wrote off $1,582,000 of deferred financing costs against stock-
holders’ equity.

In December 1998, Sepracor issued $300,000,000 of 7% Convertible 
Subordinated Debentures due 2005 (the “7% Debentures due 2005”). 
The 7% Debentures due 2005 are convertible into Sepracor Common 
Stock, at the option of the holder, at a price of $62.438 per share and 
bear interest at 7% payable semi-annually, commencing on June 15, 1999.
The 7% Debentures due 2005 are not redeemable by the Company prior 
to December 20, 2001. The Company may be required to repurchase the
7% Debentures due 2005 at the option of the holders in certain circum-
stances. As part of the sale of the 7% Debentures due 2005, Sepracor
incurred approximately $9,919,000 of offering costs, which were recorded
as other assets and are being amortized over seven years, which is the term
of the 7% Debentures due 2005. The net proceeds to the Company after
offering costs were $290,081,000.

On February 14, 2000, Sepracor issued $400,000,000 in principal amount
of 5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2007 (the “5% Deben-
tures”). The 5% Debentures have an annual interest of 5% and are convert-
ible into common stock at $92.38 per share. On March 9, 2000, Sepracor
issued an additional $60,000,000 in principal amount of 5% Debentures
pursuant to an option granted to the initial purchaser of the Debentures.
Sepracor intends to use the proceeds from the sale of the 5 % Debentures
for its ongoing preclinical and clinical trials, expansion of sales and market-
ing capabilities, funding of other research and development programs,
working capital and other general corporate purposes.

The Company believes that existing cash, including the proceeds from the
sale of the 5% Debentures, its investment securities, and the anticipated
cash flow from its current strategic alliances and operations will be suffi-
cient to support its existing operations for the near term. Sepracor’s actual
future cash requirements, however, will depend on many factors, including
the progress of its preclinical, clinical, and research programs, the number
and breadth of these programs, achievement of milestones under strategic
alliance arrangements, acquisitions, its ability to establish and maintain
additional strategic alliance and licensing arrangements, and the progress 
of the Company’s development efforts and the development efforts of its
strategic partners.

Market Risk
The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and
equity prices, which could affect its future results of operations and finan-
cial condition. The Company manages its exposure to these risks through 
its regular operating and financing activities.

Interest Rates: The Company’s available for sale investments and subordi-
nated convertible debentures are sensitive to changes in interest rates.
Interest rate changes would result in a change in the fair value of these
financial instruments due to the difference between the market interest 
rate and the rate at the date of purchase of the financial instrument. A 
10% decrease in year-end 1999 market interest rates would result in no
material impact on the net fair value of the Company’s interest-sensitive
financial instruments.

Equity Prices: The Company’s subordinated convertible debentures are 
sensitive to fluctuations in the price of the Company’s common stock 
into which the debentures are convertible. Changes in equity prices 
would result in changes in the fair value of the Company’s subordinated
convertible debentures due to the difference between the current market
price and the market price at the date of issuance of debentures. A 10%
increase in the year-end 1999 market equity prices of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures
due 2005 and 7% Debentures due 2005 would result in an increase of
approximately $73,000,000 on the net fair value of the Company’s 
subordinated convertible debentures.

Legal Proceedings
On February 12, 1999, the FTC issued a request for additional information
or documentary materials relating to the Company’s exclusive license agree-
ment with Lilly relating to (R)-fluoxetine.  The purpose of the request was 
to investigate whether or not the Lilly Agreement constitutes a violation of 
Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act or Section 7 of the Clayton
Act.  The Company is in the process of responding to the request.  At the
conclusion of its investigation, the FTC could institute proceedings seeking
to modify the Lilly Agreement or to prevent it from becoming effective.
While the Company believes that the Lilly Agreement does not constitute a
violation of the above-mentioned laws, the Company is unable to predict
the outcome of the proceeding.  

An interference declared on June 30, 1999 between Sepracor and RPR relat-
ing to (+)-zopiclone was  terminated by Sepracor’s agreement with RPR on
October 7, 1999, under which RPR’s involved patent application was
assigned to Sepracor.

All legal proceedings between Sepracor and HMRI relating to fexofenadine,
including foreign litigation and the interference between Sepracor and HMRI,
have been settled by Sepracor’s agreement with HMRI of September 1, 1999.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  (continued)

1 6

Selling, general and administrative and patent expenses were $65,336,000,
$30,123,000 and $12,609,000 in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The
increase in 1999 from 1998 was principally due to commercial introduction
and marketing of Xopenex, including increased marketing and promotional
expenses, costs resulting from contracting with two third-party contract sales
organizations, sales commissions and product samples. The increase in 1998
from 1997 is primarily the result of Sepracor’s development of its infrastruc-
ture, including operations and a specialty sales force, to support Xopenex.

Equity in loss of investees was $3,246,000, $7,482,000, and $2,755,000, 
for 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. The equity in loss of investees con-
sists of the Company’s portion of the net loss of HemaSure, ChiRex (through
March 31, 1997) and Versicor (December 10, 1997 through April 1999). 
The decrease in loss from 1999 to 1998 relates to recognizing a $5,000,000
loan guarantee for HemaSure in 1998, offset by an increase of $2,737,000 
in HemaSure’s loss in 1999 over 1998 loss. Also contributing to the decrease
in 1999 loss was a reduction in the loss relating to Versicor, as the Company
began recording the Versicor investment on a cost basis in April 1999. The
increase in loss in 1998 from 1997 was primarily due to a $5,000,000
accrual of a HemaSure loan guarantee and the recording of Versicor losses
for a full year in 1998.

Interest income was $21,896,000, $13,191,000, and $5,639,000 for 1999,
1998, and 1997, respectively. The increase in 1999 from 1998 and in 1998
from 1997 is due to the larger average cash balance available for investment.

Interest expense was $33,078,000, $16,969,000, and $5,976,000 in 1999,
1998, and 1997, respectively. The increase in 1999 from 1998 was due 
primarily to interest payments at a rate of 7% on the December 1998 con-
vertible subordinated debenture financing of $300,000,000. The increase 
in 1998 from 1997 was due primarily to interest payments at a rate of 
61 ⁄4 % on the February 1998 convertible subordinated debenture financing 
of $189,475,000.

Net other income (expense) was $272,000, ($60,000), and $331,000 for
1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. Income in 1999 and 1997 related 
primarily to the receipt of Canadian tax refunds.

Minority interests in subsidiaries (net of discontinued operations) resulted 
in a reduction of consolidated net loss of $1,438,000, $534,000, and
$428,000 for 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively. The increases in each 
year are due to increased losses of BioSphere.

Discontinued operations represent BioSphere’s sale of a substantial amount
of its business and assets in May 1999. Accordingly, the operating results of
the discontinued business for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998,
and 1997 have been segregated from the continuing operations and reported
as a separate line item on the consolidated statements of operations.

Other
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties.” This statement establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts (collectively referred 
to as “derivatives”), and for hedging activities. The statement requires 
companies to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities, with 
the instruments measured at fair value. The accounting for changes in fair
value, gains or losses, depends on the intended use of the derivative and its
resulting designation. In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS No. 137, which
defers the effective date of SFAS No. 133 to fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2000. The Company expects no immediate impact from SFAS 
No. 133 as it currently has no derivatives.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”
(“SAB 101”) which is effective no later than the quarter ending March 31,
2000. SAB 101 summarizes certain of the staff’s views in applying generally
accepted accounting principles to revenue recognition in financial state-
ments. The Company will adopt SAB 101 in the first quarter of 2000 and is
presently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this new standard; how-
ever, it is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position and results of operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and cash equivalents plus marketable securities of Sepracor and its
consolidated subsidiaries totaled $335,823,000 at December 31, 1999,
compared to $499,597,000 at December 31, 1998.

The net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31,
1999 was $163,539,000. The net cash used in operating activities includes 
a net loss from continuing operations of $182,714,000 adjusted by non-
cash charges of $11,358,000. These charges were offset by the minority
interest in subsidiary portion of the net loss of $1,438,000. The accounts
payable and accrued expense amounts increased a total of $21,630,000,
primarily due to increased research and development and interest accruals.
The launch of Xopenex led to increases in accounts receivable of $3,883,000
and inventories of $4,061,000.

Sepracor used $90,177,000 in investing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 1999. Investing activities include net purchases of marketable
securities of $72,061,000; the payment of $10,000,000 and the issuance of
200,000 shares of Sepracor Common Stock for the purchase of license and
royalty rights and the payment of $6,968,000 for property and equipment
purchases. Sepracor expects purchases of property and equipment to be
approximately $12,000,000 to $20,000,000 in 2000 and expects deprecia-
tion for 2000 of approximately $5,000,000 to $7,000,000.

Net cash of $8,644,000 was provided by financing activities for the year
ended December 31, 1999. The cash resulted primarily from the net pro-
ceeds of issuance of stock, offset by repayments of debt and capital leases.

Sepracor, BioSphere and HemaSure together have available an equipment
leasing facility that provides for a total of up to $2,000,000 of financing 
for the purpose of financing capital equipment in the U.S. All outstanding
amounts are collateralized by the assets so financed and are guaranteed 
by Sepracor. At December 31, 1999, there was $20,000 outstanding under 
this credit facility.

Sepracor’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Sepracor Canada Limited, has 
two credit agreements with two Canadian provincial and federal business
development agencies for approximately $2,960,000 in term debt, of 
which $2,590,000 is at an annual interest rate of 9.25% and $370,000 
is interest free. As of December 31, 1999, Sepracor Canada Limited had
received approximately $2,960,000 of such term debt, of which $225,000
was outstanding.

In December 1999, Sepracor amended its revolving credit agreement 
(the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) with a commercial bank to provide 
for borrowing of up to an aggregate of $25,000,000, pursuant to which 
BioSphere may borrow up to $2,000,000. All borrowings are collateralized
by certain assets of the companies. The Revolving Credit Agreement con-
tains covenants relating to minimum tangible capital base, minimum cash
or cash equivalents, minimum liquidity ratio and maximum leverage. 
Sepracor is a guarantor of any outstanding borrowings. At December 31,
1999, the Company had nothing outstanding under this agreement.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  (continued)
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We will be required to expend significant resources for research, development, testing
and regulatory approval of our drugs under development and these drugs may not be
developed successfully: We are focused on the development of improved 
versions of widely prescribed pharmaceutical compounds which we refer
to as improved chemical entities, or ICEs. Most of our ICEs are still under-
going clinical trials or are in the early stages of development. Our drugs
may not provide greater benefits or fewer side effects than the original ver-
sions of these drugs and our research efforts may not lead to the discovery
of new drugs with improved characteristics. All of our drugs under devel-
opment will require significant additional research, development, preclinical
and/or clinical testing, regulatory approval and a commitment of signifi-
cant additional resources prior to their commercialization. Our potential
products may not:

• be developed successfully;

• be proven safe and efficacious in clinical trials;

• offer therapeutic or other improvements over comparable drugs;

• meet applicable regulatory standards;

• be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at 
acceptable costs; or

• be successfully marketed.

If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or face a claim of intel-
lectual property infringement by a third party, then we could lose valuable intellectual
property rights, be liable for significant damages or be prevented from commercializing
our products: Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and
maintain patents, protect trade secrets and operate without infringing
upon the proprietary rights of others. In the absence of patent and trade
secret protection, competitors may adversely affect our business by inde-
pendently developing and marketing substantially equivalent products and
technology and preventing us from marketing our products. It is also pos-
sible that we could incur substantial costs in litigation if we are required
to defend ourselves in patent suits brought by third parties, or if we are
required to initiate litigation against others to protect our intellectual
property rights.

We have filed various patent applications covering the composition of,
and the methods of using, single-isomer or active-metabolite forms of var-
ious compounds for specific applications. However, we may not be issued
patents in respect of the patent applications already filed or that we file in
the future. Moreover, the patent position of companies in the pharmaceu-
tical industry generally involves complex legal and factual questions, and
recently has been the subject of much litigation. No consistent policy 
has emerged from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”), or the
courts regarding the breadth of claims allowed or the degree of protection
afforded under patents and other proprietary rights. Any patents we have
obtained, or obtain in the future, may be challenged, invalidated or cir-
cumvented. Moreover, the PTO may commence interference proceedings
involving our patents or patent applications. Any challenge to, or invalida-
tion or circumvention of, our patents or patent applications could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to commercialize successfully any ICE will largely depend upon
our ability to obtain and maintain use patents of sufficient scope to pre-
vent third parties from developing similar or competitive products. Third
parties, typically drug companies, hold patents or patent applications 
covering the composition of matter for most of the ICEs for which we
have use patents or patent applications. In each of these cases, unless we

have or obtain a license agreement, we generally may not commercialize
the ICE until the expiration of these third-party patents. Licenses may not 
be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, it would be
costly for us to contest the validity of a third-party patent or defend any
claim that we infringe a third-party patent. Moreover, litigation involving
third-party patents may not be resolved in our favor.

If our products do not receive government approval, then we will not be able to com-
mercialize them: The United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)
and similar foreign agencies must approve the marketing and sale of phar-
maceutical products developed by us or our development partners. These
agencies impose substantial requirements on the manufacture and market-
ing of drugs. Our failure to obtain regulatory approval on a timely basis
and any unanticipated significant expenditures on preclinical and clinical
studies could adversely affect the funds we will require to advance our
products to commercialization and the timing of the commercial introduc-
tion of, or our ability to, market and sell our products.

The regulatory process to obtain marketing approval requires clinical trials
of a product to establish its safety and efficacy. Problems that may arise
during clinical trials include:

• results of clinical trials may not be consistent with preclinical 
study results;

• results from later phases of clinical trials may not be consistent 
with the results from earlier phases; and

• products may not be shown to be safe and efficacious.

Even if the FDA or similar foreign agencies grant us regulatory approval 
of a product, the approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated
uses for which the product may be marketed or contain requirements 
for costly post-marketing follow-up studies. Moreover, if we fail to comply
with applicable regulatory requirements, we may be subject to fines, sus-
pension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure 
of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

The development and commercialization of our products could be delayed or termi-
nated if our collaborative partners terminate, or fail to perform their obligations under
their agreements with us, or if any of our collaboration agreements is subject to lengthy
government review: We have entered into collaboration arrangements with
pharmaceutical companies. Our revenues under these collaboration
arrangements will consist primarily of milestone payments and royalties on
sales of products. Any such payments and royalties will depend in large
part on the efforts of our collaboration partners. If any of our collaboration
partners does not devote sufficient time and resources to its collaboration
arrangement with us, the potential commercial benefits of the arrange-
ment may not be realized by us, and our results of operations may be
adversely affected. In addition, if any of our collaboration partners were 
to breach or terminate their agreements with us or fail to perform their
obligations to us in a timely manner, the development and commercialization
of the products could be delayed or terminated. Any delay or termination
of this type could have a material, adverse effect on our financial condi-
tion and results of operations because we may be required to expend 
additional funds to bring our products to commercialization, and mile-
stone or royalty payments from collaborative partners or revenue from
product sales, if any, could be delayed or terminated. Any failure or inability
by us to perform some of our obligations under a collaboration agreement
could reduce or extinguish the benefits to which we are otherwise entitled
under the agreement.
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HemaSure is a defendant in a lawsuit brought by Pall Corporation ("Pall")
regarding its LeukoNet System, which is no longer made or sold by Hema-
Sure.  In a complaint filed in November 1996, Pall alleged that HemaSure’s
manufacture, use and/or sale of the LeukoNet System infringed upon two
patents held by Pall.  Pall dropped its allegations concerning infringement 
of one of the patents and alleges only that HemaSure’s LeukoNet System
infringed U.S. Patent No. 4,952,572 (the "’572 Patent").

With respect to the allegations concerning the ’572 Patent, HemaSure has
answered the complaint stating that it does not infringe any claim of the
asserted patent.  Further, HemaSure has counterclaimed for declaratory
judgment of invalidity, noninfringement and unenforceability of the ’572
patent.  Pall has amended its complaint to add Lydall, Inc. ("Lydall"),
whose subsidiary supplied filter media for the LeukoNet product, as a co-
defendant.  HemaSure has filed for summary judgment of noninfringement,
and Pall has cross-filed for summary judgement of infringement at the same
time.  Lydall supported HemaSure’s motion for summary judgment of non-
infringement, and has filed a motion for summary judgment that the
asserted claims of the ’572 Patent are invalid as a matter of law.  Discovery
has been completed in the action.  The court has not acted on the summary
judgment motions.

On April 5, 1999, HemaSure and Gambro BCT, Inc. ("Gambro BCT") filed
a complaint for declaratory relief against Pall in the U.S. District Court of
Colorado.  HemaSure and Gambro BCT seek declaratory relief that the ’572
Patent and Pall’s U.S. Patent No.’s 5,451,321, 5,229,012, 5,344,561,
5,501,795 and 5,863,436 are invalid and not infringed by HemaSure’s r\LS
filter and methods of using the r\LS filter.  Pall moved to dismiss or transfer
to the Eastern District of New York or, in the alternative, to stay this action.
HemaSure and Gambro opposed Pall’s motion.  On July 16, 1999, the
United States District Court of Colorado denied Pall’s motion to transfer 
or, in the alternative, to stay the action, and the action is proceeding.  On
September 30, 1999, the Court denied Pall’s motion to dismiss the action
and the case is proceeding.  On October 20, 1999, Pall submitted a coun-
terclaim alleging that the HemaSure r\LS System infringes its ’572 Patent
and that HemaSure and Gambro BCT tortiously interfered and unfairly
competed with Pall’s business.  On March 22, 2000, Pall filed its second
amended answer and counterclaims alleging infringement of all the patents-
in-suit.  Pall also added counterclaims against Gambro A.B.

On April 23, 1999, Pall filed a complaint against HemaSure and Gambro
BCT in the U.S. District Court of the Eastern District of New York alleging
that HemaSure’s r\LS filter infringes Pall’s ’572 Patent, and tortiously inter-
fered and unfairly competed with Pall’s business.  On May 19, 1999, Pall
filed an amended complaint adding Sepracor, Gambro, Inc. and Gambro,
A.B., a Swedish company, of which Gambro Inc. is a business unit, as
defendants.  Sepracor, HemaSure and Gambro BCT have moved to dismiss,
transfer, or stay the action, and Pall has opposed the motion.  There has
been no decision on the motion.

A prior lawsuit brought by Pall in February 1996 has concluded.  In June
1999, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit determined that the
LeukoNet System did not infringe claim 39 of U.S. Patent No. 5,451,321
and Pall has not appealed that decision.

HemaSure has engaged patent counsel to investigate the pending litigations.
HemaSure believes, based upon its review of these matters, that a properly
informed court should conclude that the manufacture, use and/or sale by
HemaSure or its customers of the LeukoNet System and the r\LS System
does not infringe any valid enforceable claim of the Pall patents.  However,
there can be no assurance that HemaSure will prevail in the pending 

litigation, and an adverse outcome in a patent infringement action would
have a material adverse effect on HemaSure’s financial condition and
future business and operations, including the possibility of significant
damages in the litigations and an injunction against the sale of the r\LS
System if HemaSure does not prevail in the litigations.

Sepracor believes, based on advice of its legal counsel, that a properly
informed court should conclude that Pall’s suit against Sepracor should
be dismissed. However, there can be no assurance that this suit will be 
dismissed or that Sepracor will prevail in the pending litigation.

In January 1997, HemaSure entered into a Restructuring Agreement of the
debt related to HemaSure’s acquisition of Novo Nordisk A/S’s plasma
products unit.  In January 1998, HemaSure elected to convert all indebt-
edness under the approximately $11,700,000 promissory note which was
issued to Novo Nordisk A/S in connection with the Restructuring Agree-
ment into common stock at a conversion price of $10.50 per share, or
827,375 shares.  HemaSure also elected to treat as forgiven $3,000,000 
in principal amount of the note, pursuant to the terms of the note.  Novo
Nordisk A/S has contested the conversion of the note, including the for-
giveness of the $3,000,000 amount.

This dispute, with or without merit, could be time-consuming and expen-
sive to litigate or settle if brought into a court of law, and could divert
management attention from administering HemaSure’s core business.  If
Novo Nordisk A/S succeeds on its dispute and HemaSure is deemed to
have wrongfully converted the original note, then the 827,375 shares of
common stock issued to Novo Nordisk A/S may no longer be outstanding
and HemaSure may be obligated to repay certain indebtedness under the
original note.

Factors Affecting Future Operating Results
Certain of the information contained in this Annual Report, including
information with respect to the safety, efficacy and potential benefits of
the Company’s ICEs under development and the scope of patent protec-
tion with respect to these products and information with respect to the
other plans and strategy for the Company’s business and the business of
the subsidiaries and certain affiliates of the Company, consists of forward-
looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to
differ materially from the forward-looking statements include the following:

We have never been profitable and we may not be able to generate revenues sufficient
to achieve profitability: We have not been profitable since inception, and it 
is possible that we will not achieve profitability. We incurred net losses
applicable to common shares on a consolidated basis of approximately
$183.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 and $93.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 1998. We expect to continue to incur
operating and capital expenditures. As a result, we will need to generate
significant revenues to achieve and maintain profitability. We cannot
assure you that we will achieve significant revenues or that we will ever
achieve profitability. Even if we do achieve profitability, we cannot assure
you that we can sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis in the future. If revenues grow more slowly than we anticipate or if
operating expenses exceed our expectations or cannot be adjusted accord-
ingly, our business, results of operations and financial conditions will be
materially and adversely affected. Our ability to generate profitability will
depend in large part on successful commercialization of our initial prod-
ucts and successful development and commercialization of principal 
products under development. Failure to successfully commercialize these
products may have a material adverse effect on our business.
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the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health
maintenance organizations and additional legislative proposals.

We could be exposed to significant liability claims if we are unable to obtain insurance
at acceptable costs or otherwise protect against potential liability claims: We may be
subjected to product liability claims that are inherent in the testing, manu-
facturing, marketing and sale of human health care products. These
claims could expose us to significant liabilities that could prevent or inter-
fere with our product commercialization efforts. Product liability claims
could require us to spend significant time and money in litigation or to
pay significant damages. Although we maintain product liability insurance
coverage for both the clinical trials and commercialization of our prod-
ucts, it is possible that we will not be able to obtain further product 
liability insurance on acceptable terms, if at all, and that our insurance
coverage may not provide adequate coverage against all potential claims.

We have significant long-term debt and we may not be able to make interest or
principal payments when due: As of December 31, 1999, our total long-term
debt was approximately $490.6 million and our stockholders’ equity
(deficit) was $(155.7) million. Neither the 6 1⁄4 % Convertible Subordinated
Debentures due 2005 issued by the Company in February 1998 nor the
7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2005 issued by the Com-
pany in December 1998 restrict our ability or our subsidiaries’ ability to
incur additional Indebtedness (as defined), including debt that ranks
senior to the 6 1⁄4 % Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2005 and
the 7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2005. Additional
Indebtedness that we incur may rank senior to or on parity with these
debentures in certain circumstances. See “Description of Debentures.”
Our ability to satisfy our obligations will depend upon our future perfor-
mance, which is subject to many factors, including factors beyond our
control. It is possible that we will be unable to meet our debt service
requirements on any of our outstanding debentures. Moreover, we may 
be unable to repay any of our outstanding debentures at maturity or 
otherwise in accordance with the debt instruments.

If sufficient funds to finance our business are not available to us when needed or on
acceptable terms, then we may be required to delay, scale back, eliminate or alter
our strategy for our programs: We may require additional funds for our
research and product development programs, operating expenses, the
pursuit of regulatory approvals and the expansion of our production, 
sales and marketing capabilities. Historically we have satisfied our funding
needs through collaborative arrangements with corporate partners, equity
or debt financing. We cannot assure you that these funding sources will
be available to us when needed in the future, or, if available, will be on
terms acceptable to us. Insufficient funds could require us to delay, scale
back or eliminate certain of our research and product development pro-
grams or to license third parties to commercialize products or technolo-
gies that we would otherwise develop or commercialize ourself. Our cash
requirements may vary materially from those now planned because of 
factors including:

• increased research and development expenses;

• patent developments;

• relationships with collaborative partners;

• the FDA regulatory process;

• our capital requirements; and

• selling and marketing expenses in connection with 
commercialization of products.

We expect to face intense competition and our competitors have greater resources 
and capabilities than we have. Developments by others may render our products or
technologies obsolete or noncompetitive: We expect to encounter intense compe-
tition in the sale of our future products. If we are unable to compete 
effectively, our financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected because we may use our financial resources
to seek to differentiate ourselves from our competition and because we
may not achieve our product revenue objectives. Many of our competitors
and potential competitors, which include pharmaceutical companies,
biotechnology firms, universities and other research institutions, have 
substantially greater resources, manufacturing and marketing capabilities,
research and development staff and production facilities than we have.
The fields in which we compete are subject to rapid and substantial tech-
nological change. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly
to new or emerging technologies or to devote greater resources to the
development, manufacture and marketing of new products and/or tech-
nologies than we can. As a result, any products and/or technologies that
we develop may become obsolete or noncompetitive before we can
recover expenses incurred in connection with their development.

Fluctuations in the demand for products, the timing of collaborative arrangements,
expenses and the results of operations of our subsidiaries will cause fluctuations in 
our quarterly operating results, which could cause volatility in our stock price: Our
quarterly operating results are likely to fluctuate significantly, which could
cause our stock price to be volatile. These fluctuations will depend on 
factors which include:

• the timing of collaborative agreements for our pharmaceutical 
development candidates and development costs for those 
pharmaceuticals;

• the timing of receipt of upfront, milestone or royalty payments 
under collaborative agreements;

• the timing of product sales and market penetration;

• the timing of operating expenses, including selling and marketing 
expenses and the costs of expanding and maintaining a direct 
sales force; and

• the losses of HemaSure Inc., a 27%-owned subsidiary of Sepracor 
as of December 31, 1999.

Failure by us to identify and remediate all year 2000 risks could cause a disruption in
our business: The year 2000 issue is the result of computer programs being
written using two digits, rather than four, to define the applicable year.
Any of our programs that have time-sensitive software may recognize a
date using “00” as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000, which could
result in miscalculation or system failures. We have attempted to assess,
and we must continue to audit year 2000 issues with our internal systems,
including communications, hardware and software. If our systems do not
operate properly with respect to date calculations involving the year 2000
and subsequent dates, we could incur unanticipated expenses to remedy
any problems and our business could be seriously harmed. Although we
believe that our internal systems are currently year 2000 compliant, our
systems nevertheless could be impaired or cease to operate due to year
2000 problems.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  (continued)
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We have exclusively licensed our (R)-fluoxetine rights to Lilly, and, in addi-
tion to up-front license and development milestone payments, are entitled
to receive royalties on product sales beginning upon the first commercial
sale.  The (R)-fluoxetine agreement with Lilly will be effective on the next
business day following the expiration or earlier termination of the notice
and waiting period under the HSR Act.

We are required to file a notice under the HSR Act for certain agreements
containing exclusive license grants and to delay the effectiveness of any such
exclusive license until the expiration or earlier termination of the notice and
waiting period under the HSR Act. If the expiration or termination of the
notice and waiting period under the HSR Act is delayed because of lengthy
government review, or if the FTC or Department of Justice successfully chal-
lenges such a license, development and commercialization could be delayed
or precluded and our business could be adversely affected. Under the HSR
Act, we have received a request from the FTC for additional information in
connection with the (R)-fluoxetine agreement. We are responding to the
request. There can be no assurance that the FTC will not initiate proceed-
ings seeking to modify or enjoin the (R)-fluoxetine agreement with Lilly. If
that agreement is modified or enjoined, development and commercialization
of (R)-fluoxetine would be delayed or precluded.

Development and commercialization of some of our product candidates
may depend on our ability to enter into additional collaboration agree-
ments with pharmaceutical companies to fund all or part of the costs of
development and commercialization of such product candidates. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to enter into collaboration agreements
for ICEs in the future or that the terms of the collaboration agreements, if
any, will be favorable to us. The inability to enter into collaboration agree-
ments in the future could delay or preclude the development, manufacture
and/or marketing of some of our drugs and could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations because:

• we may be required to expend additional funds to advance the 
drugs to commercialization;

• revenue from product sales could be delayed; or

• we may elect not to commercialize the drugs.

We have limited sales and marketing experience and expect to incur significant expenses
in developing a sales force. In addition, our limited sales and marketing experience may
restrict our success in commercializing our products: We currently have very limited
sales and marketing experience. If we successfully develop and obtain regu-
latory approval for the products we are currently developing, we expect to
license some of them to large pharmaceutical companies and market and
sell others through our direct specialty sales forces or through other
arrangements, including co-promotion arrangements. We have established
a direct sales force to market Xopenex, our single isomer form of albuterol.
As we begin to enter into co-promotion arrangements or market and sell
additional products directly, we will need to significantly expand our sales
force. We expect to incur significant expense in expanding our direct sales
force. Our limited experience in developing, maintaining and expanding a
direct specialty sales force may restrict our success in commercializing 
our products.

Our ability to realize significant revenues from direct marketing and sales
activities depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified sales person-
nel in the pharmaceutical industry and competition for these persons 
is intense. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified sales personnel,
we will not be able to successfully expand our marketing and direct sales
force on a timely or cost-effective basis. In addition, we may need to enter

into co-promotion arrangements with third parties where our own direct
sales force is neither well situated nor large enough to achieve maximum
penetration in the market. We may not be successful in entering into any
co-promotion arrangements, and the terms of any co-promotion arrange-
ments may not be favorable to us.

If we do not maintain current good manufacturing practices, then the FDA could refuse
to approve marketing applications. We do not have the capability to manufacture in
sufficient quantities all of the products which may be approved for sale and developing
and obtaining this capability will be time consuming and expensive: The FDA and
other regulatory authorities require that our products be manufactured
according to their Good Manufacturing Practices standards. Our failure
to maintain current Good Manufacturing Practices compliance and/or
scale up our manufacturing processes could lead to refusal by the FDA to
approve marketing applications. Failure in either respect could also be the
basis for action by the FDA to withdraw approvals previously granted and
for other regulatory action.

Failure to increase our manufacturing capabilities may mean that even if
we develop promising new products, we may not be able to produce them.
We currently operate a manufacturing plant that is compliant with current
Good Manufacturing Practices that we believe can produce commercial
quantities of Xopenex and support the production of our other possible
products in amounts needed for our clinical trials. However, we will not
have the capability to manufacture in sufficient quantities all of the prod-
ucts which may be approved for sale. Accordingly, we will be required to
spend money to expand our current manufacturing facility, build an addi-
tional manufacturing facility or contract the production of these drugs to
third-party manufacturers.

We currently have a supply contract with ChiRex Inc. that commits us to
purchase through December 31, 2001 all of our annual requirements of
those drugs that we will market directly through our specialty sales force,
provided ChiRex meets certain pricing, supply and quality control condi-
tions. If ChiRex experiences delays or difficulties in producing, packaging 
or delivering the drugs, market introduction and subsequent sales of the
drugs that we market through our specialty sales force could be adversely
affected. Under this supply agreement, however, we retain the right to
manufacture commercial quantities of our drugs in our Nova Scotia 
manufacturing plant.

If we or our collaborative partners fail to obtain an adequate level of reimbursement
for our future products or services by third-party payors, there may be no commercially
viable markets for our products or services: The availability and levels of reim-
bursement by governmental and other third-party payors affects the mar-
ket for any pharmaceutical product or service. These third-party payors
continually attempt to contain or reduce the costs of healthcare by chal-
lenging the prices charged for medical products and services. In certain 
foreign countries, particularly the countries of the European Union (“EU”),
the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental con-
trol. We may not be able to sell our products profitably if reimbursement is
unavailable or limited in scope or amount.

In both the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been
a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the healthcare
system. Further proposals are likely. The potential for adoption of these
proposals affects or will affect our ability to raise capital, obtain additional
collaborative partners and market our products.

We expect to experience pricing pressure for our existing products and 
any future products for which marketing approval is obtained due to 
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Sepracor Inc.:

In our opinion, based upon our audits and the report of other auditors, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements

of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive income, and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sepracor

Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in

the period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. These financial statements are the respon-

sibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the 

financial statements of BioSphere Medical Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary, which statements reflect total assets of 2% and 2% of total consolidated assets at

December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and 10%, 2%, and 7% of total consolidated revenues for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,

1999. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to

the amounts included for BioSphere Medical Inc., is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

January 27, 2000, except as to the information in

Note V for which the date is March 9, 2000

Report of Independent Accountants
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We rely on third-party suppliers and service providers. If these or other
parties experience year 2000 failures or malfunctions there could be an
adverse impact on our ability to conduct operations, including conducting
continued pharmaceutical development efforts and manufacturing phar-
maceutical products. At this time, we do not anticipate this worst case
scenario to occur, nor do we anticipate any major interruptions in our
ability to provide products and services to our customers. In the event 
that we experience disruptions as a result of the year 2000 problem, our
business could be seriously harmed.

Year 2000 Issue: In prior periods and years, we discussed the progress of 
our plans to prepare for any system or processing failures which could
result from computer programs recognizing dates represented as “00” 
as the year 1900 rather than the year 2000. As a result of the Company’s
planning and efforts, there were no significant disruptions in critical 
information technology and non-information technology systems and the
Company believes those systems successfully responded to the Year 2000
date change. Costs relating to this Year 2000 issue have not been material.
The Company is not aware of any material problems resulting from Year
2000 issues, either with our internal systems, or with the products and 
services of third parties. The Company will continue to monitor its 
mission critical computer applications and those of vendors and suppliers 
throughout the year 2000 to ensure that the Company promptly addresses
any issues that may arise.

Price Range of Common Stock
The Sepracor Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market
under the symbol SEPR. On March 15, 2000, the closing price of the
Company’s Common Stock, as reported on the Nasdaq National Market,
was $94.75 per share. The following table sets forth for the periods indi-
cated the high and low sales prices per share of the Common Stock as
reported by the Nasdaq National Market. The share prices set forth below
have been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split of the Company’s
Common Stock distributed on February 25, 2000 to stockholders of
record on February 1, 2000.

2000 High Low

First Quarter (through March 24, 2000) 126 13⁄ 16 451⁄16

1999 High Low

First Quarter 707⁄ 16 441⁄16

Second Quarter 617⁄8 271⁄2

Third Quarter 47 7⁄ 8 32 3⁄ 8

Fourth Quarter 535⁄ 8 3327⁄ 32

1998 High Low

First Quarter 22 161⁄2

Second Quarter 2315⁄16 18 1⁄8

Third Quarter 36 3⁄8 20 9⁄16

Fourth Quarter 47 5⁄8 23 5⁄8

On March 15, 2000, Sepracor had approximately 553 stockholders 
of record.

Dividend Policy
Sepracor has never paid cash dividends on its Common Stock. The 
Company currently intends to reinvest its future earnings, if any, for 
use in the business and does not expect to pay cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

Form 10-K
A copy of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999 is available without charge upon written request to:

Investor Relations
Sepracor Inc.
111 Locke Drive
Marlborough, MA 01752

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Supplemental Stockholder Information
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Sepracor Inc. Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except loss per common share amounts) 1999 1998 1997

Revenues:

Product sales $ 16,383 $ 155 $ 117

License fees and royalties (Note R) 3,886 5,293 2,078

Collaborative research and development (Note R) 2,390 4,761 —

Total revenues 22,659 10,209 2,195

Costs and expenses:

Cost of products sold 4,811 95 72

Cost of license fees and royalties 108 480 469

Research and development 122,400 61,797 41,230

Selling, general and administrative and patent costs 65,336 30,123 12,609

Total costs and expenses 192,655 92,495 54,380

Loss from operations (169,996) (82,286) (52,185)

Other income (expense):

Equity in investee losses (Note C) (3,246) (7,482) (2,755)

Interest income 21,896 13,191 5,639

Interest expense (33,078) (16,969) (5,976)

Gain on sale of ChiRex Inc. (Note C) — — 30,069

Other income (expense) 272 (60) 331

Net loss before minority interests (184,152) (93,606) (24,877)

Minority interests in subsidiaries (Note C) 1,438 534 428

Net loss from continuing operations (182,714) (93,072) (24,449)

Discontinued Operations:

Loss from discontinued operations (net of minority interests) (Note I) (345) (211) (1,674)

Net loss $ (183,059) $ (93,283) $ (26,123)

Net loss applicable to common shares (Note B) $ (183,059) $ (93,433) $ (26,723)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share from continuing operations (Note B) $ (2.77) $ (1.61) $ (0.44)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share from discontinued operations (Note B) $ (0.00) $ (0.01) $ (0.04)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (2.77) $ (1.62) $ (0.48)

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common shares:

Basic and diluted 66,049 57,826 55,198

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except par value amounts) 1999 1998

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes B and D) $ 59,488 $ 295,323

Marketable securities (Notes B and D) 276,335 204,274

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $165 at December 31, 1999 (Notes B and F) 4,485 —

Inventories (Notes B and G) 4,455 —

Other assets 5,277 3,386

Total current assets 350,040 502,983

Property and equipment, net (Notes B and H) 19,003 16,508

Investment in affiliates (Note C) 3,141 1,490

Net assets from discontinued operations (Note I) — 10,325

Patents, intangible assets and other assets, net (Notes B and O) 34,451 17,954

Total assets $ 406,635 $ 549,260

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 20,196 $ 9,290

Accrued expenses (Note J) 42,575 31,275

Loan guarantee of affiliate (Notes C and M) 5,000 —

Notes payable and current portion of capital lease obligation

and long-term debt (Notes K and M) 120 2,410

Other current liabilities 2,078 2,502

Total current liabilities 69,969 45,477

Loan guarantee of affiliate (Notes C and M) — 5,000

Long-term debt and capital lease obligation (Notes K and M) 1,136 2,435

Convertible subordinated debentures (Notes E and L) 489,475 489,475

Other long-term liabilities 826 —

Total liabilities 561,406 542,387

Minority interest (Note C) 934 2,445

Commitments and contingencies (Notes M and N)

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (Notes L, O, and P)

Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, 1,000 shares authorized,

none outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998 — —

Common stock, $.10 par value, 140,000 and 80,000 shares authorized; 67,481 and 

65,313 shares issued and outstanding, at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively 6,748 6,531

Additional paid-in capital 327,591 304,403

Unearned compensation, net (Note O) (217) (144)

Accumulated deficit (489,370) (306,311)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (457) (51)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (155,705) 4,428

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 406,635 $ 549,260

Sepracor Inc. Consolidated Balance Sheets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Sepracor Inc. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) 1999 1998 1997
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $(183,059) $ (93,283) $(26,123)
Less: Net loss from discontinued operations (net of minority interests) (345) (211) (1,674)

Net loss from continuing operations (182,714) (93,072) (24,449)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,522 4,218 3,061
Minority interests in subsidiaries (1,438) (534) (428)
Provision for bad debt 165 — —
Equity in investee losses 3,246 7,482 2,755
Stock compensation 419 — —
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 6 510 21
Gain on sale of equity investee — — (30,069)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (3,883) — —
Inventories (4,061) — —
Other current assets (4,007) (761) 110
Other current liabilities (424) 1,154 —
Accounts payable 10,535 6,091 (20)
Accrued expenses 11,095 14,839 5,213

Net cash used in operating activities (163,539) (60,073) (43,806)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities (478,517) (366,953) (60,961)
Sales and maturities of marketable securities 406,456 172,660 71,285
Purchase of intangible assets (10,000) — —
Additions to property and equipment (6,968) (6,920) (2,253)
Proceeds from sale of equipment — 14 —
Investment in affiliate (3,000) 75 (4,046)
Cash acquired in acquisition of BioSphere SA 283 — —
Net proceeds from sale of equity investee — — 30,625
Proceeds from affiliate’s repayment of long-term note — — 6,034
Other assets 1,569 531 478

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (90,177) (200,593) 41,162

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 13,010 5,955 3,203
Proceeds from sale of convertible subordinated debentures — 489,475 —
Costs associated with sale of convertible subordinated debentures (276) (15,615) —
Repurchase of redeemable preferred stock — (6,850)
Repayments of long-term debt capital leases and line of credit agreements (4,090) (919) (433)
Borrowings of long-term debt, capital lease and line of credit agreements — 2,074 174

Net cash provided by financing activities 8,644 474,120 2,944

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (406) (491) —

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (245,478) 212,963 300
Net cash provided by discontinued operations 9,643 (219) (1,065)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 295,323 82,579 83,344

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 59,488 $295,323 $ 82,579

Supplemental schedule of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 33,014 $  12,070 $ 5,980

Non cash activities:
Common stock issued for intangible asset $ (7,950) $ — $ —
Capital lease obligations incurred $ — $ 270 $ —
Conversion of convertible subordinated debt (Note L) $ — $ 79,298 $ —

Acquisition of BioSphere Medical:
Liabilities assumed $ (1,493) $ — $ —
Fair value of assets acquired $ 1,493 $ — $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated Total
Additional Other Stockholders’

Year ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997 Common Stock Paid-In Unearned Accumulated Comprehensive Equity
(in thousands) Shares     Amount Capital Compensation Deficit Income (Loss) (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 1996 54,542 $5,454 $211,672 $(234) $(186,905) $ 292 $ 30,279

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss (26,123) (26,123)
Foreign currency translation (91) (91)

Total comprehensive income (loss) (26,214)

Issuance of common stock to employees
under stock plans 1,165 117 2,958 3,075

Accrued dividends from preferred stock (600) (600)
Unearned compensation, net 140 140
Gain on issuance of subsidiary’s stock 5,688 5,688

Balance at December 31, 1997 55,707 5,571 219,718 (94) (213,028) 201 12,368

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss (93,283) (93,283)
Foreign currency translation (252) (252)

Total comprehensive income (loss) (93,535)

Issuance of common stock to employees
under stock plans 1,277 127 5,963 6,090

Issuance of common stock from conversion
of warrants 110 11 396 407

Unearned compensation, net (50) (50)
Accrued dividends from preferred stock (150) (150)
Issuance of common stock from conversion

of subordinated convertible notes 8,219 822 80,058 80,880
Deferred finance costs from the conversion

of subordinated convertible notes (1,582) (1,582)

Balance at December 31, 1998 65,313 6,531 304,403 (144) (306,311) (51) 4,428

Comprehensive income (loss):
Net loss (183,059) (183,059)
Foreign currency translation (406) (406)

Total comprehensive income (loss) (183,465)

Issuance of common stock to employees
under stock plans 1,968 197 12,813 13,010

Unearned compensation, net 129 (73) 56
Compensation expense 419 419
Issuance of common stock for purchase of 

intangible technology 200 20 7,930 7,950
Gain on issuance of subsidiary’s stock 1,897 1,897

Balance at December 31, 1999 67,481 $6,748 $327,591 $(217) $(489,370) $(457) $(155,705)

Sepracor Inc. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) and Comprehensive Income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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offerings are amortized over seven years. Capitalized license fees are amor-
tized over the expected life of the licenses.  Accumulated amortization was
$3,056,000 and $1,355,000 at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respec-
tively. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment by comparing the 
fair value of the assets with their carrying amount. Any write-downs are
treated as permanent reductions in the carrying amount of the assets.
Accordingly, the Company evaluates the possible impairment of goodwill
and other long-lived assets at each reporting period based on the undis-
counted projected cash flows of the related asset.

Revenue Recognition: Revenues from product sales are recognized when
goods are shipped and are recorded net of applicable allowances for
returns, rebates, and other applicable discounts and allowances. The
reserve for product returns is currently derived by utilizing reports
obtained from external, independent sources, which provide prescription
data, wholesaler stocking levels and wholesaler sales to retail pharmacies.
From this data the level of inventory remaining in the pipeline is estimated,
and a reserve is applied. Non-refundable license fees, milestone payments
and contract revenues are recognized when contract obligations are met.
Deferred revenues represent progress payments received from customers
pursuant to contract revenues not yet recorded.

Income Taxes: The Company recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets
for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method,
deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse.

Basic and Fully Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share: Basic earnings
(loss) per share (“EPS”) excludes dilution and is computed by dividing
income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average num-
ber of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is based
upon the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during
the period plus the additional weighted-average common equivalent
shares during the period. Common equivalent shares are not included in
the per share calculations where the effect of their inclusion would be
anti-dilutive. Common equivalent shares result from the assumed conver-
sion of preferred stock and the assumed exercises of outstanding stock
options, the proceeds of which are then assumed to have been used to
repurchase outstanding stock options using the treasury stock method.
For the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997, basic and
diluted net loss per common share is computed based on the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period,
because the effect of common stock equivalents would be anti-dilutive.
Included in the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997, basic
net loss applicable to common shares is $0, $150,000, and $600,000
respectively, of dividends relating to series B redeemable exchangeable 
preferred stock. Certain securities were not included in the computation 
of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 1999,
1998, and 1997 because they would have an anti-dilutive effect due to net
losses for such periods. These securities include (i) options to purchase
10,940,000, 9,870,000 and 6,970,000 shares, of common stock with a
purchase price of $0.75 to $59.13 per share, $0.75 to $42.38 per share,
and $0.75 to $20.50 per share for the years ended December 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997 respectively; (ii) 12,805,000, 12,805,000 and 8,220,000
shares of common stock for issuance upon conversion of 6 1⁄4 % subordi-
nated convertible debentures due 2005 and 7% subordinated convertible
debentures due 2005 for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998,

and 7% subordinated convertible debentures due 2002 for the year ended
December 31, 1997, and (iii) 625,000 shares of common stock for conver-
sion of series B redeemable exchangeable preferred stock for the year ended
December 31, 1997.

Other: In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This statement establishes
accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments embedded 
in other contracts (collectively referred to as “derivatives”), and for hedging
activities. The statement requires companies to recognize all derivatives 
as either assets or liabilities, with the instruments measured at fair value.
The accounting for changes in fair value, gains or losses, depends on the
intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation. In June 1999,
the FASB issued SFAS No. 137, which defers the effective date of SFAS No.
133 to fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000. The Company expects no
immediate impact from SFAS No. 133 as it currently has no derivatives.

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 101, ‘‘Revenue Recognition in Financial State-
ments’’ (‘‘SAB 101’’), which is effective no later than the quarter ending
March 31, 2000. SAB 101 summarizes certain of the staff’s views in apply-
ing generally accepted accounting principles to revenue recognition in
financial statements. The Company will adopt SAB 101 in the first quarter
of 2000 and is presently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this new
standard; however, it is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

C – Sepracor Subsidiaries and Affiliates
Subsidiary: BioSphere has been a consolidated subsidiary of Sepracor 
since 1994 and as of December 31, 1999 Sepracor’s ownership in 
BioSphere was 64%.

In May 1999, BioSphere sold a substantial portion of its business and
assets to complete a transition from a chromatography and media 
company to a medical device company. (See Note I.)

Affiliates: Versicor, established as a subsidiary of Sepracor in 1995,
received private equity financing of approximately $22,000,000 in 1997.
Sepracor exercised its conversion option on a loan agreement with Versicor
which had an outstanding amount of $9,530,000. Versicor repaid the
remaining $6,034,000 under the loans to Sepracor by the end of 1997.
Sepracor recognized a gain of approximately $5,688,000 on the transaction
which was recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital and began
recording its investment in Versicor on the equity method of accounting.

In April 1999, Versicor completed various private equity transactions 
resulting in the issuance of preferred stock, and thereby reduced Sepracor’s 
ownership in Versicor to approximately 18%. As a result of the transaction
Sepracor recorded a gain of $1,077,000 which was recorded through addi-
tional paid-in capital and began accounting for its investment in Versicor
under the cost method. In October 1999, Versicor completed a private
placement financing for approximately $40,000,000. Sepracor paid
$1,000,000 to Versicor for Versicor preferred stock. As a result of this 
transaction, Sepracor’s ownership of Versicor was approximately 10% at 
December 31, 1999.

HemaSure has been an equity investment of Sepracor since 1995. In 1998,
Sepracor guaranteed a line of credit for HemaSure for $5,000,000. In 
February 1999, the Company entered into an agreement with HemaSure
pursuant to which Sepracor invested $2,000,000 in exchange for 1,333,334
shares of HemaSure common stock and for warrants to purchase 667,000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

2 8

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A – Nature of the Business
Sepracor Inc. was incorporated in 1984 to research, develop and 
commercialize products for the synthesis, separation and purification of
pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical compounds. Specifically, Sepracor
is developing improved versions of top-selling drugs called ICE TM (Improved
Chemical Entities) Pharmaceuticals. Sepracor is focusing on advancing its
pharmaceutical programs and strengthening its patent positions for these
ICE pharmaceuticals. Sepracor’s 100% owned subsidiary, Sepracor Canada
Ltd., supplies clinical material to Sepracor through its manufacturing facil-
ity in Windsor, Nova Scotia. Sepracor’s 64% owned subsidiary, BioSphere
Medical Inc., with operations in France and the U.S., is committed to 
pioneering the use of patented and proprietary bioengineered microspheres
as a new class of embolotherapy medical devices. Sepracor’s 27% owned 
subsidiary, HemaSure Inc., is dedicated to making blood safer through
blood filtration devices. Sepracor also owns approximately 10% of Versicor
Inc., which was formed to develop novel drug candidates principally for the
treatment of infectious diseases.

Sepracor and its subsidiaries are subject to risks common to companies 
in the industry including, but not limited to, the safety, efficacy and suc-
cessful development of product candidates, fluctuations in operating
results, protection of proprietary technology, limited sales and marketing
experience, limited manufacturing capacity, risk of product liability, compli-
ance with government regulations and dependence on key personnel and
collaborative partners.

B – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation: Consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of Sepracor and all of its wholly and majority owned sub-
sidiaries. All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
Investments in affiliated companies which are 50% owned or less, and
where Sepracor does not exercise control, are accounted for using the
equity method. Versicor had been a consolidated entity until December 10,
1997, an equity subsidiary from December 1997 to April 1999, and as of
May 1999 was accounted for under the cost method.

The Company accounts for the sale of subsidiary stock in different man-
ners, depending on the life cycle of the entity. The Company offsets any
gains or losses against additional paid-in capital for early development
stage subsidiaries. For later stage subsidiaries, the Company records gains
and losses as other income or expense.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions in the Preparation of Financial 
Statements: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the following: (1) the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, (2) the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and (3) the reported
amounts of the revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications in the Preparation of Financial Statements: All references
to share and per-share data for all periods presented have been adjusted to
give effect for the two-for-one stock split announced on January 20, 2000
and distributed on February 25, 2000 to stockholders of record on February
1, 2000. Certain prior amounts have been reclassified to conform with 
current year presentation.

Translation of Foreign Currencies: The assets and liabilities of Sepracor’s
international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using current
exchange rates. Statement of operations amounts are translated at 

average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The resulting transla-
tion adjustment is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss). Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are included in other
income (expense).

Cash and Cash Equivalents: All highly liquid debt instruments purchased
with an initial purchase maturity of three months or less are classified as
cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities: Marketable securities are classified as “available for
sale.” Marketable securities include government securities and corporate
commercial paper, maturing in primarily less than a year, which can be
readily purchased or sold using established markets. Marketable securities
are stated at fair value. Net realized gains and losses on security transac-
tions are determined on the specific identification cost basis. The market
value of Sepracor’s marketable securities at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
was not materially different from cost.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Company has no significant off bal-
ance sheet concentration of credit risk such as foreign exchange contracts,
option contracts or other foreign hedging arrangements. The Company
maintains the majority of its cash balances with financial institutions.
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentra-
tions of credit risk primarily consist of the cash and cash equivalents, 
marketable securities and trade accounts receivable. The Company places
its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities with high credit quality
financial institutions.

Revenues from significant customers are as follows:

Year Ended December 31: 1999 1998 1997

Customer A 15% — —
Customer B 11% — —
Customer C 16% — 85%
Customer D 11% — —
Customer E — 47% —
Customer F — 49% —

Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out)
or market.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost.
Costs of major additions and betterments are capitalized; maintenance
and repairs which do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets
are charged to operations. On disposal, the related cost and accumulated
depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any
resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations. Depreciation
is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets. All laboratory, manufacturing and office equipment have
estimated useful lives of three to ten years. The building has an estimated
useful life of thirty years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the remaining
term of the lease.

Intangible and Other Assets: The excess of investment over net assets
acquired is amortized using the straight-line method over 20 years. 
Sepracor capitalizes all significant costs associated with the successful 
filing of a patent application. Patent costs are amortized over their 
estimated useful lives, not to exceed 17 years. Deferred finance costs relat-
ing to expenses incurred to complete convertible subordinated debenture



3 1

J – Accrued Expenses
Included in accrued expenses is $23,336,000 and $16,588,000 of accrued
research and development expenses, $5,310,000 and $5,336,000 of
accrued interest and $6,020,000 and $4,015,000 of accrued compensa-
tion as of December 1999 and 1998, respectively.

K – Notes Payable to Bank and Long-Term Debt 
Notes payable and long-term debt consist of the following at December 31:

(in thousands) 1999 1998

Bank Line of Credit bearing interest at LIBOR 
plus 1.75% in 1998 $      — $2,000

Loan from Nova Scotia Business Development 
Corporation (“NSBDC”) bearing interest at 9.25% 
until May 31, 2000 and thereafter at 9.5%, repayable 
in 120 consecutive monthly payments of $21 principal 
plus interest with a final payment of $20 in June 2005 — 1,477

Loan from Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency, 
non-interest bearing, repayable in 60 equal installments
commencing March 15, 1998 225 277

Government grant from Nova Scotia Department 
of Economic Development 854 812

Obligations under Capital Leases (See Note M) 177 279

1,256 4,845

Less current portion (120) (2,410)

Total $1,136 $2,435

In December 1999, Sepracor amended its revolving credit agreement 
(the ‘‘Revolving Credit Agreement’’) with a commercial bank to provide 
for borrowing of up to an aggregate of $25,000,000, pursuant to which 
BioSphere may borrow up to $2,000,000. Interest is payable monthly in
arrears at prime (8.5% at December 31, 1999) or the LIBOR rate (6.5% at
December 31, 1999) plus 0.75%. All borrowings are collateralized by cer-
tain assets of the companies. The Revolving Credit Agreement contains
covenants relating to minimum tangible capital base, minimum cash or
cash equivalents, minimum liquidity ratio and maximum leverage. Sepra-
cor is a guarantor of any outstanding borrowings. Prior to this amend-
ment, the agreement provided for borrowing of up to an aggregate of
$10,000,000 pursuant to which BioSphere could borrow up to $3,000,000.
At December 31, 1999 and 1998, there was $0 and $2,000,000, respectively,
outstanding under this agreement.

In December 1997, Versicor entered into two term loans with a commer-
cial bank. Sepracor entered into a put agreement with the commercial
bank pursuant to which Sepracor agreed to purchase $2,000,000 of
indebtedness of Versicor in the event of a default by Versicor under its
loan agreement with the commercial bank. In the event that the put right
is exercised by the bank, the bank will assign its security interest in the
fixed assets of Versicor to Sepracor.

Sepracor guarantees the loan from NSBDC. The government grant
received by Sepracor Canada Limited may be repayable if Sepracor
Canada Limited fails to meet certain conditions of the agreement. The 
government assistance is recorded as debt and is amortized on the same
basis as the depreciation of the related capital assets.

Minimum annual principal repayment of long-term debt, excluding capital
leases, in each of the next five years are as follows: 2000—$69,000,
2001—$69,000, 2002—$69,000, 2003—$18,000, and 2004—$0.

L – Convertible Subordinated Debentures
In 1995, Sepracor issued $80,880,000 of Convertible Subordinated
Debentures due 2002 (the “1995 Debentures”). The 1995 Debentures
bore interest at 7% payable semi-annually and were due on December 1,
2002. The 1995 Debentures were convertible into shares of Common
Stock of the Company at $9.84 per share and were redeemable by the
Company on December 1, 1998. As part of the sale of the 1995 Deben-
tures, Sepracor incurred approximately $2,788,000 of offering costs.
These costs were classified in other assets and were being amortized over
the life of the 1995 Debentures, which was seven years.

On October 30, 1998, Sepracor called for the redemption of its 1995
Debentures aggregating $80,880,000 in principal amount. On December
1, 1998, immediately prior to the redemption, all $80,880,000 of the
1995 Debentures were converted into 8,219,512 shares of Sepracor Com-
mon Stock. As a result of the conversion, Sepracor wrote off $1,582,000
of deferred financing costs against stockholders’ equity (additional 
paid-in capital).

In February 1998, Sepracor issued $189,475,000 of 6 1⁄4 % Convertible 
Subordinated Debentures due 2005 (the “6 1⁄4 % Debentures”). The 6 1⁄4 %
Debentures are convertible into Sepracor Common Stock, at the option of
the holder, at a price of $23.685 per share. The 6 1⁄4 % Debentures bear
interest at 6 1⁄4 % payable semi-annually, commencing on August 15, 1998.
The 6 1⁄4 % Debentures are redeemable by the Company on February 18,
2001. The Company may be required to repurchase the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures
at the option of the holders in certain circumstances. As part of the sale
of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures, Sepracor incurred approximately $6,105,000 of
offering costs which were recorded as other assets and are being amor-
tized over seven years, the term of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures. The net proceeds
to the Company after offering costs were $183,370,000. 

On December 10, 1998, Sepracor issued $300,000,000 in aggregate
principal amount of 7% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2005
(the “7% Debentures”). The 7% Debentures are convertible into Sepracor
Common Stock, at the option of the holder, at a price of $62.438 per
share. The 7% Debentures bear interest at 7% payable semi-annually,
commencing on June 15, 1999. The 7% Debentures are redeemable by
the Company on December 20, 2001. The Company may be required to
repurchase the 7% Debentures at the option of the holders in certain cir-
cumstances. As part of the sale of the 7% Debentures, Sepracor recorded
approximately $9,919,000 of offering costs, which were recorded as
other assets and are being amortized over seven years, the term of the
7% Debentures. The net proceeds to the Company after offering costs
were $290,081,000.

M – Commitments and Contingencies
Sepracor, BioSphere and HemaSure together have available an equipment
leasing arrangement that provides for a total of up to $2,000,000 to Sepra-
cor and its subsidiaries for the purpose of financing capital equipment in
the United States. All outstanding amounts are collateralized by the assets
so financed and are guaranteed by Sepracor. There was $0 and $127,000
outstanding under this agreement at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respec-
tively. Sepracor was also the guarantor of $20,000 and $193,000 of Hema-
Sure amounts outstanding at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
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of additional shares of HemaSure common stock. In October 1999, Hema-
Sure completed a private placement financing which resulted in Sepracor
recording a gain of $820,000 which was recorded through additional 
paid-in capital. As a result of this transaction, Sepracor’s ownership of
HemaSure was reduced to approximately 27%.

In March 1997, ChiRex Inc., a corporation that was a combination of 
Sterling Organics Limited and the chiral chemistry business of Sepracor,
sold shares of common stock held by Sepracor. Sepracor received net 
proceeds of approximately $31,125,000 and recognized a gain of
$30,069,000, which was recorded as other income.

D – Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities consist of the following 
at December 31:

(in thousands) 1999 1998

Cash & Cash Equivalents:
Cash & money market funds $ 20,123 $ 14,279
Corporate & Government commercial paper 39,365 281,044

Total cash & cash equivalents $ 59,488 $295,323

Marketable Securities:
U.S. Government securities

Due within 1 year $ 47,897 $108,239
Due within 1 to 2 years — —

Corporate commercial paper
Due within 1 year 220,960 86,035
Due within 1 to 2 years 7,478 10,000

Total marketable securities $276,335 $204,274

There were no gross realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable 
securities for the years ended December 1999, 1998, and 1997.

E – Financial Instruments
Financial instruments consist of the following at December 31:

1999 1998
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(in thousands) Amount Value Amount Value
61⁄4% Convertible 
Subordinated
Debentures – due 2005 $189,475 $411,047 $189,475 $368,766

7% Convertible 
Subordinated
Debentures – due 2005 $300,000 $319,125 $300,000 $300,000

The fair value of the 61⁄4% Debentures due 2005 is from a quoted market
source in 1999 and 1998. 

The fair value of the 7% Debentures due 2005 is from a quoted market source
in 1999 and approximated its carrying amount at December 31, 1998.

F – Accounts Receivable
Sepracor’s trade receivables in 1999 primarily represent amounts due to the
Company from wholesalers, distributors and retailers of its pharmaceutical
product. Sepracor performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and
generally does not require collateral. The allowance for doubtful accounts
related to accounts receivable was $165,000 at December 31, 1999.

Customers with amounts due to the Company that represent greater than
10% of the accounts receivable balance are as follows:

Year Ended December 31: 1999 1998 1997

Customer A 20% — —
Customer B 13% — —

G – Inventories
Inventories consist of the following at December 31:

(in thousands) 1999 1998

Raw materials $1,785 —
Work in progress 765 —
Finished goods 1,905 —

$4,455 $0

H – Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

(in thousands) 1999 1998

Land $ 85 $ 71
Building 2,918 2,528
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment 12,020 9,145
Office equipment 10,950 6,647
Leasehold improvements 4,969 4,854

30,942 23,245
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (11,949) (7,537)

18,993 15,708
Construction in progress 10 800

$19,003 $16,508

Depreciation expense was $4,487,000, $2,952,000, and $2,446,000 for
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

I – Discontinued Operations
On May 17, 1999, BioSphere sold substantially all of its assets and 
business, other than such assets and business relating to intracorporeal
and “online” extracorporeal therapies or any autologous treatment, 
for approximately $11,000,000 in cash, and the assumption of certain 
liabilities. Upon the consummation of the sale, BioSepra Inc. changed 
its name to BioSphere Medical, Inc. BioSphere utilized a portion of the
proceeds to pay approximately $880,000 of transaction costs, to repay
approximately $2,000,000 of outstanding bank debt, and to repay
approximately $143,000 due to Sepracor.

The net assets included in the sale had a net book value of approximately
$10,500,000 on May 17, 1999, which was included in calculating a net
loss for the sale of approximately $70,000. The operations, assets and 
liabilities of the business have been presented in accordance with 
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results 
of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions in the
accompanying financial statements. Accordingly, the operating results of
the discontinued business for the year ended December 31, 1999, 1998,
and 1997 have been segregated from the continuing operations and
reported as a separate line item on the consolidated statements of opera-
tions. The consolidated balance sheet for December 31, 1998 and the
consolidated statements of cash flows for December 31, 1998 and 1997
have also been restated to reflect the net assets of the sold business.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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In January 1997, HemaSure entered into a Restructuring Agreement of the
debt related to HemaSure’s acquisition of Novo Nordisk A/S’s plasma
products unit.  In January, 1998, HemaSure elected to convert all indebt-
edness under the approximately $11,700,000 promissory note which was
issued to Novo Nordisk A/S in connection with the Restructuring Agree-
ment into common stock at a conversion price of $10.50 per share, or
827,375 shares.  HemaSure  also elected to treat as forgiven $3,000,000
in principal amount of the note, pursuant to the terms of the note.  Nova
Nordisk A/S has contested the conversion of the note, including the for-
giveness of the $3,000,000 amount.  This dispute, with or without merit,
could be time-consuming and expensive to litigate or settle if brought into
a court of law, and could divert management attention from administer-
ing HemaSure’s core business.  If Novo Nordisk A/S succeeds on its dis-
pute and HemaSure is deemed to have wrongfully converted the original
note, then the 827, 375 shares of common stock issued to Novo Nordisk
A/S may no longer be outstanding and HemaSure may be obligated to
repay certain indebtedness under the original note.

O – Stockholders’ Equity (deficit)
On January 20, 2000, the Company announced that its Board of Directors
approved a two-for-one stock split. The stock split was paid as a 100%
stock dividend on February 25, 2000 to stockholders of record on 
February 1, 2000. All share data and stock prices have been adjusted 
to reflect the stock split for all periods presented.

In May 1999, the stockholders of Sepracor approved an amendment 
to Sepracor’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation increasing from
80,000,000 to 140,000,000 the number of authorized shares of 
common stock.

In August 1999, Sepracor paid Georgetown University $10,000,000 in
cash and issued 200,000 shares of Sepracor Common Stock to obtain 
all rights, title and interest held by Georgetown relating to terfenadine 
carboxylate, norastemizole, intraconazole enantiomers and ketoconazole
enantiomers. The intellectual property rights purchased from Georgetown
are being amortized over a ten year period. 

In 1998, Sepracor and Beckman terminated their stock purchase agree-
ment under which Beckman acquired 625,000 shares of Sepracor 
Series B Redeemable Exchangeable Preferred Stock. Sepracor paid Beck-
man the original purchase price of the stock plus accrued dividends
totalling $6,850,000. 

Sepracor has recorded unearned compensation expense related to stock
options granted to certain consultants. The following table (Table A), 
summarizes the unearned compensation activity for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997.

Table A

Unearned compensation: (in thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Balance at January 1, $(144) $ (94) $(234)

Stock option grants (129) (172) —
Stock option adjustments — 94 107

Amortization expense 56 28 33

Balance at December 31, $(217) $(144) $ (94)

P – Stock Plans and Warrants
Stock Plans: The Company has stock-based compensation plans, which
are described below. The Company records the issuance of stock options
using APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its
plans. However, had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based
compensation plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant
dates, the Company’s net loss and basic and diluted loss per share for 
the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997 would have been
increased to the pro forma amounts indicated in the following table
(Table B): 

The effects of applying the fair value of stock based compensation in this
pro forma disclosure are not indicative of future amounts, since the valua-
tion of stock options granted was initiated in 1995 and additional awards
in future years are not anticipated.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions: an expected life of 6 years, expected volatility of
55%, a risk-free interest rate of 4.6% to 5.7% and no dividends in 1999,
and an expected life of 6 years, expected volatility of 50%, a risk-free 
interest rate of 4.5% to 5.7% and no dividends in 1998, and an expected
life of 7 years, expected volatility of 60%, a risk-free interest rate of 5.0% 
to 7.8% and no dividends in 1997.

The 1991 Restated Stock Option Plan (the “1991 Plan”) provides for the
granting of Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) to officers and key employ-
ees of Sepracor and nonstatutory stock options (“NSOs”) to officers, key
employees, consultants and directors of Sepracor. ISOs and NSOs granted
under the Plan have a maximum term of ten years from the date of grant
and have an exercise price not less than the fair value of the stock on the
date of grant and vest over five years. In 1998, the stockholders approved
an amendment to the 1991 Plan increasing the number of shares of 
common stock which may be granted to 15,000,000. In 1999, the stock-
holders approved an amendment to the 1991 Plan increasing the number
of shares of common stock which may be granted to 18,000,000.

The 1991 Directors Stock Option Plan (the “1991 Directors Plan”) 
provides for the granting of NSOs to directors of Sepracor who are not
officers or employees of Sepracor. The options granted under the 1991
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1999 1998 1997
Net Basic and Diluted Net Basic and Diluted Net Basic and Diluted

(in thousands except loss per share amounts) Loss (1) Loss Per Share Loss(1) Loss Per Share Loss(1) Loss Per Share

As reported $(183,059) $(2.77) $  (93,433) $(1.62) $(26,723) $(0.48)

Pro forma $(213,279) $(3.23) $(105,229) $(1.82) $(30,745) $(0.56)

(1) Net loss represents net loss applicable to common shares.
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Future minimum lease payments under all noncancelable leases in effect at
December 31, 1999, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Operating Leases Capital Leases

2000 $1,176 $  54
2001 891 54
2002 922 54
2003 967 50
2004 970 —
Thereafter 2,021 —

Total minimum lease payments $6,947 $212
Less amount representing interest (35)

Present value of minimum lease payments $177

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases relate primarily 
to Sepracor’s and BioSphere’s principal office, laboratory and production
facilities. The lease terms provide options to extend the leases. The leases
require Sepracor to pay its allocated share of taxes and operating costs in
addition to the annual base rent payments. Rental expense under these
and other leases amounted to $1,683,000, $1,444,000, and $1,687,000
for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

At December 31, 1999, Sepracor has an accrual relating to the guarantee
of a $5,000,000 HemaSure line of credit. The initial principal payment on
this line of credit is due in August 2000. Interest on the line of credit
accrues at 1⁄ 2% above the prime lending rate. Sepracor would be obligated
to make payment of $5,000,000 plus accrued interest in the event that
HemaSure defaulted on the line of credit. At December 31, 1999 Hema-
Sure was not in default of the line of credit.

N – Litigation
On February 12, 1999, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) issued
a request for additional information or documentary materials relating to
the Company’s exclusive license agreement with Lilly relating to (R)-fluoxe-
tine. The purpose of the request was to investigate whether or not the Lilly
Agreement constitutes a violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Com-
mission Act or Section 7 of the Clayton Act. The Company is in the
process of responding to the request. At the conclusion of its investiga-
tion, the FTC could institute proceedings seeking to modify the Lilly Agree-
ment or to prevent it from becoming effective. While the Company
believes that the Lilly Agreement does not constitute a violation of the
above-mentioned laws, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of
the proceeding.

An interference declared on June 30, 1999 between Sepracor and RPR 
relating to (+)-zopiclone was dissolved by Sepracor’s agreement with RPR 
on October 7, 1999, under which RPR’s involved patent application was
assigned to Sepracor.

All legal proceedings between Sepracor and HMRI relating to fexofena-
dine, including foreign litigation and the interference between Sepracor
and HMRI, have been settled by Sepracor’s agreement with HMRI of 
September 1, 1999. (See Note R.)

HemaSure is a defendant in a lawsuit brought by Pall Corporation (“Pall”)
regarding its LeukoNet System, which is no longer made or sold by Hema-
Sure. In a complaint filed in November 1996, Pall alleged that HemaSure’s
manufacture, use and/or sale of the LeukoNet System infringed upon two
patents held by Pall. Pall dropped its allegations concerning infringement
of one of the patents and alleges only that HemaSure’s LeukoNet System
infringed U.S. Patent No. 4,952,572 (the “ ’572 Patent”).

With respect to the allegations concerning the ’572 Patent, HemaSure has
answered the complaint stating that it does not infringe any claim of the
asserted patent. Further, HemaSure has counterclaimed for declaratory
judgment of invalidity, noninfringement and unenforceability of the ’572
Patent. Pall has amended its complaint to add Lydall, Inc. (“Lydall”), whose
subsidiary supplied filter media for the LeukoNet product, as a co-defen-
dant. HemaSure has filed for summary judgment of noninfringement, and
Pall has cross-filed for summary judgment of infringement at the same
time. Lydall supported HemaSure’s motion for summary judgment of non-
infringement, and has filed a motion for summary judgment that the
asserted claims of the ’572 Patent are invalid as a matter of law. Discovery
has been completed in the action. The court has not acted on the summary
judgment motions.

On April 5, 1999, HemaSure and Gambro BCT, Inc. (“Gambro BCT”) filed
a complaint for declaratory relief against Pall in the U.S. District Court of
Colorado.  HemaSure and Gambro BCT seek declaratory relief that the
’572 Patent and Pall’s U.S. Patent No’s. 5,451,321, 5,229,012, 5,344,561,
5,501,795 and 5,863,436 are invalid and not infringed by HemaSure’s r\LS
filter and methods of using the r\LS filter.  Pall moved to dismiss or transfer
to the Eastern District of New York or, in the alternative, to stay this action.
HemaSure and Gambro opposed Pall’s motion.  On July 16, 1999, the
United States District Court of Colorado denied Pall’s motion to transfer
or, in the alternative, to stay the action, and the action is proceeding.  On
September 30, 1999, the Court denied Pall’s motion to dismiss the action
and the case is proceeding.  On October 20, 1999, Pall submitted a coun-
terclaim alleging that HemaSure’s r\LS System infringes its ’572 Patent and
that HemaSure and Gambro BCT tortiously interfered and unfairly com-
peted with Pall’s business.

On April 23, 1999, Pall filed a complaint against HemaSure and Gambro
BCT in the U.S. District Court of the Eastern District of New York alleging
that HemaSure’s r\LS filter infringes Pall’s ’572 Patent, and tortiously inter-
fered and unfairly competed with Pall’s business. On May 19, 1999, Pall
filed an amended complaint adding Sepracor, Gambro Inc. and Gambro,
A.B., a Swedish company, of which Gambro Inc. is a business unit, as
defendants. Sepracor, HemaSure and Gambro BCT have moved to dismiss,
transfer, or stay the action, and Pall has opposed the motion. There has
been no decision on the motion.

A prior lawsuit brought by Pall in February 1996 has concluded. In June
1999, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit determined that the
LeukoNet System did not infringe claim 39 of U.S. Patent No. 5,451,321
and Pall has not appealed that decision.

HemaSure has engaged patent counsel to investigate the pending litiga-
tions.  HemaSure believes, based upon its review of these matters, that a
properly informed court should conclude that the manufacture, use and/or
sale by HemaSure or its customers of the LeukoNet System and the r\LS
System does not infringe any valid enforceable claim of the Pall patents.
However, there can be no assurance that HemaSure will prevail in the pend-
ing litigation, and an adverse outcome in a patent infringement action
would have a material adverse effect on HemaSure’s  financial condition
and future business and operations, including the possibility of significant
damages in the litigations and an injunction against the sale of the r\LS Sys-
tem if HemaSure does not prevail in the litigations.

Sepracor believes, based on advice of its legal counsel, that a properly
informed court should conclude that Pall’s suit against Sepracor should 
be dismissed. However, there can be no assurance that this suit will be 
dismissed or that Sepracor will prevail in the pending litigation.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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Q – Income Taxes
Sepracor’s statutory and effective tax rates were 34% and 0%, respectively,
for the years 1999, 1998, and 1997. The effective tax rate was 0% due 
to net operating losses (“NOL”) and nonrecognition of any deferred 
tax asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future
tax consequences attributable to tax benefit carryforwards and to differ-
ences between the financial statement amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates. A valuation reserve is established if it is more likely
than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
Accordingly, a valuation reserve has been established for the full amount of
the deferred tax asset. Of the total valuation allowance in 1999, approxi-
mately $3,700,000 relates to stock option compensation deductions. The
tax benefit associated with the stock option compensation deductions will
be credited to equity when realized.

At December 31, 1999, Sepracor had federal and state tax NOL carryfor-
wards of approximately $281,000,000 and $182,000,000, which both
begin to expire in 2000. Approximately, $300,000 of federal NOLs expired
in 1999. Approximately $8,000,000 and $15,000,000 of state NOLs
expired in 1999 and 1998, respectively. Based upon the Internal Revenue
Code and changes in company ownership, utilization of the NOL will be
subject to an annual limitation. Sepracor also has a NOL from its opera-
tion in Canada of approximately $3,800,000, which may be carried for-
ward indefinitely. At December 31, 1999, Sepracor had federal and state
research and experimentation credit carryforwards of approximately
$10,000,000 and $10,000,000, respectively, which begin to expire in 2000
and in 2006. Approximately, $3,000 of federal research and experimenta-
tion credit carryforwards expired in 1999. Sepracor also had Canadian
research and experimentation credits of $1,500,000 which begin to expire
in 2004. At December 31, 1999, Sepracor had state investment tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $320,000, which begin to expire in 2000.
Approximately, $30,000 of state investment tax credit carryforwards
expired in 1999.

The components of Sepracor’s net deferred taxes were as follows at
December 31:

(in thousands) 1999 1998

Assets
NOL carryforwards $ 116,253 $ 70,066
Reserves 986 135
Tax credit carryforward 23,159 12,243
Patent 808 547
Accrued expenses 11,425 8,756
Research and development

capitalization 58,607 20,730
Equity in loss of investees 8,436 10,596
Property and equipment 675 296
Other 719 773

Liabilities
Basis difference of subsidiaries (13,628) (13,628)

Valuation allowance $(207,440) $(110,514)

Net deferred taxes $ — $ —

R – Agreements
In 1993, Sepracor licensed to Marion Merrell Dow, which became
Hoechst Marion Roussel Inc., and is now Aventis (referred to herein as
“HMRI”) its U.S. patent application covering the use of terfenadine car-
boxylate™ (also known as fexofenadine), a metabolite of terfenadine, mar-
keted by HMRI as Seldane® (the “HMRI Agreement”). The HMRI
Agreement called for future license fees of up to $3,750,000 subject to
certain other milestones, and royalties on sales, if and when they occur. In
1997, Sepracor received and recognized as revenue the first milestone pay-
ment of $1,875,000 and recorded $469,000 in sub-license expense
payable to a third party for the year ended December 31, 1997. In March
1998, Sepracor received $1,875,000 from HMRI as the final milestone
payment. As a result of the patent interference issue raised by the PTO,
Sepracor deferred recognition of this revenue, pending the outcome of the
patent interference.

In December 1997, Sepracor signed a license agreement with Schering
Plough Corporation (“Schering”) giving Schering exclusive worldwide
rights to Sepracor’s patents covering descarboethoxyloratadine, an active
metabolite of loratadine that in preclinical studies has shown the poten-
tial for greater potency. Under the agreement, Schering paid Sepracor an
initial license fee of $5,000,000 in January 1998. The agreement includes
royalties on DCL sales, if any, beginning at product launch. The royalty
rate paid to Sepracor will escalate over time and upon the achievement 
of sales volume and other milestones.

In February 1998, Sepracor signed a collaboration and license agreement
with Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson
& Johnson (“Janssen”), relating to the development and marketing of
norastemizole, a third generation nonsedating antihistamine (the
“Norastemizole Agreement”). Under the terms of the Norastemizole
Agreement, the companies were to jointly fund the development of
norastemizole, and Janssen had an option to acquire certain rights regard-
ing the product in the U.S. and abroad. On May 14, 1999, Sepracor
announced that Janssen elected not to exercise its option to co-promote
norastemizole under the Norastemizole Agreement. Sepracor will continue
to fund clinical development and marketing of the drug, which is currently
in Phase III clinical trials. Under the terms of the Norastemizole Agree-
ment, Sepracor has worldwide rights to all Johnson & Johnson intellectual
property covering norastemizole, including the right to reference data
from the astemizole New Drug Application, for manufacture, develop-
ment, and marketing of prescription norastemizole products. In exchange,
Johnson & Johnson will receive a royalty on Sepracor’s product sales, 
if any.

In July 1998, Sepracor signed a second license agreement with Janssen
(the “Janssen Norcisapride Agreement”) giving Janssen exclusive worldwide
rights to Sepracor’s patents covering norcisapride, an isomer of the active
metabolite of Propulsid™. Under the terms of the Janssen Norcisapride
Agreement, Sepracor has exclusively licensed its norcisapride rights to
Janssen, which expects to develop and market the norcisapride product
worldwide. Under the Janssen Norcisapride Agreement, Janssen would pay
Sepracor royalties on norcisapride sales, if any, beginning at first product
launch. Royalty rates paid to Sepracor will escalate upon the achievement
of sales volume milestones.

In December 1998, Sepracor signed a license agreement (the “Lilly Agree-
ment”) with Eli Lilly and Company giving Lilly exclusive worldwide rights 
to Sepracor’s patents covering (R)-fluoxetine, which is a modified form 
of an active ingredient found in Prozac®. Under the terms of the Lilly

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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Directors Plan have a maximum term of ten years from date of grant and
have an exercise price of not less than the fair market value of the stock on
the date of grant and vest over five years. In May 1998, the stockholders
approved an amendment to the 1991 Directors Plan increasing the num-
ber of shares of common stock which may be granted to 1,000,000.

In 1997, the stockholders approved the Company’s 1997 Stock Option
Plan (the ‘‘1997 Plan’’). The 1997 Plan permits the Company to grant
ISOs and NSOs to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock to
employees and consultants of the Company. Executive officers are not
entitled to receive stock options under the 1997 Plan. ISOs and NSOs
granted under the 1997 Plan have a maximum term of ten years from the
date of grant and vest over five years. ISOs may not be granted at an exer-
cise price less than fair market value.

In May 1999, the stockholders approved the 1999 Directors Stock Option
Plan (the “1999 Directors Plan”). The 1999 Directors Plan permits the
Company to grant NSOs to purchase 1,800,000 shares of Common Stock
to non-employee directors of the Company. Options granted under the
1999 Directors Plan have a maximum term of ten years from the date of
grant and have an exercise price not less than the fair value of the stock 
on the date of grant and vest over a period of one to five years.

In 1996, the stockholders approved the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “1996 ESPP”). Under the 1996 ESPP, an aggregate of 240,000

shares of Common Stock may be purchased by employees at 85% of 
market value on the first or last day of each six month offering period,
whichever is lower, through accumulation of payroll deductions ranging
from 1% to 10% of compensation as defined, subject to certain limita-
tions. Employees purchased 48,000, 34,000, and 63,000 shares for a total
of $1,284,000, $583,000, and $556,000, during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. At December 31, 1999, there 
were 92,000 shares of authorized but unissued Common Stock reserved
for future issuance under the 1996 ESPP.

In 1998, the stockholders approved the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “1998 ESPP”). Under the 1998 ESPP, an aggregate of 600,000
shares of Common Stock may be purchased by employees at 85% of 
market value on the first or last day of each six month offering period,
whichever is lower, through accumulation of payroll deductions ranging
from 1% to 10% of compensation as defined, subject to certain limita-
tions. At December 31, 1999, no shares had been issued and there were
600,000 shares of authorized but unissued Common Stock reserved for
future issuance under the 1998 ESPP.

Stock Warrants: Sepracor received $407,000 from the exercise of war-
rants to purchase 110,418 shares of Common Stock in 1998. At Decem-
ber 31, 1999 there were no outstanding warrants.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-

Range of Remaining Average Average
Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Price Per Share Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price

$  0.75 - 3.00 435 4.6 $  2.79 278 $  2.73
3.18 - 7.07 589 5.3 5.17 247 4.32
7.31 - 12.07 1,717 6.2 8.02 1,158 7.85

12.12 - 12.38 1,005 7.5 12.14 132 12.14
18.00 - 24.32 3,059 8.4 19.67 310 22.10
31.13 - 31.13 291 8.7 31.13 43 31.13
35.43 - 42.38 2,078 9.4 38.13 105 42.38
46.33 - 46.33 394 9.9 46.33 — —
50.50 - 50.50 92 9.3 50.50 — —
59.13 - 59.13 1,280 9.1 59.13 2 59.13

$  0.75 - 59.13 10,940 8.0 $25.37 2,275 $11.04

1999 1998 1997
Average Average Average
Price Per Price Per Price Per

Number Share Number Share Number Share

Balance at January 1 9,870 $14.65 6,970 $  6.58 6,554 $ 4.78
Granted 3,251 47.16 4,305 24.48 1,514 12.05
Exercised (1,920) 6.11 (1,243) 3.99 (866) 3.00
Cancelled (261) 33.99 (162) 11.30 (232) 4.92

Balance at December 31 10,940 $25.37 9,870 $14.65 6,970 $ 6.58

Options exercisable at December 31 2,275 2,386 2,480

Weighted-average fair value of options 
granted during the year $28.86 $ 13.33 $ 7.94

The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1999: (in thousands, except for per share amounts)

There were 3,646,000 options available for future grant as of December 31, 1999.
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U - Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (Unaudited)

For the Quarter Ended
(in thousands, except March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

per share data) 1999 1999 1999 1999

Net Revenues $ 2,724 (2) $5,014 $ 2,483 $12,438
Gross Profit 2,558 (2) 3,859 1,577 9,746
Net Loss applicable to 

common shares (30,324) (36,603) (55,749) (60,384)
Loss per share: 

Basic and fully diluted (1) (.46) (.56) (.84) (.90)

For the Quarter Ended
(in thousands, except March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

per share data) 1998 1998 1998 1998

Net Revenues $  6,889 (3) $  595 (4) $  1,471 (5) $  1,254 (6)

Gross Profit 6,439 (3) 554 (4) 1,430 (5) 1,211 (6)

Net Loss applicable to 
common shares (11,868) (17,584) (29,628) (34,353)

Loss per share: 
Basic and fully diluted (1) (.21) (.31) (.52) (.55)

(1) All per share amounts have been adjusted for the two-for-one stock 
split of the Company’s Common Stock distributed on February 25, 
2000 to Stockholders of record on February 1, 2000.

(2) Net revenues were $5,082 and gross profit was $3,899 prior to 
restatement for BioSphere discontinued operations.

(3) Net revenues were $8,879 and gross profit was $7,497 prior to 
restatement for BioSphere discontinued operations.

(4) Net revenues were $2,238 and gross profit was $1,209 prior to 
restatement for BioSphere discontinued operations.

(5) Net revenues were $2,656 and gross profit was $1,694 prior to 
restatement for BioSphere discontinued operations.

(6) Net revenues were $3,633 and gross profit was $2,402 prior to 
restatement for BioSphere discontinued operations.

V - Subsequent Events
On January 20, 2000, the Company announced that its Board of 
Directors approved a two-for-one stock split. On February 25, 2000,
stockholders received one additional share for every share they owned 
as of the close of business on the record date of February 1, 2000.

On February 14, 2000, the Company issued $400,000,000 in principal
amount of 5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2007 (the “5%
Debentures”). The 5% Debentures have an annual interest of 5% and will
be convertible 90 days after issuance into Sepracor common stock at
$92.38 per share. On March 9, 2000, the Company issued an additional
$60,000,000 of 5% Debentures pursuant to an overallotment option
granted to the initial purchaser of the 5% Debentures. The Company
intends to use the proceeds from the sale of the 5% Debentures for its
ongoing preclinical and clinical trials, expansion of sales and marketing
capabilities, funding of other research and development programs, work-
ing capital and other general corporate purposes.

In February 2000, the Company converted $96,424,000 of 6 1⁄4 % Convert-
ible Subordinated Debentures Due 2005. Costs related to the conversion
of the 6 1⁄4 % Debentures, including pre-paid interest, premiums and other
costs, was approximately $7,497,000.

On February 4, 2000, BioSphere announced that it had completed a
$5,900,000 private placement of common stock and warrants. Investors
purchased 653,887 shares of BioSphere common stock and warrants to
purchase 163,468 shares of common stock. As a result of this transaction,
Sepracor’s ownership of BioSphere decreased from 64% to 59% as of
December 31, 1999.

On March 3, 2000, HemaSure announced that it had completed a
$28,000,000 private placement of common stock. As a result of this
transaction, Sepracor’s ownership of HemaSure decreased from 27% to
22% as of December 31, 1999.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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Agreement, and subject to approval under the HSR Act, Sepracor will
receive an initial milestone payment and license fee of $20,000,000 which
will be recorded as revenue in accordance with the terms of the Agree-
ment. Additional milestone payments of up to $70,000,000 will be made
based on the progression of (R)-fluoxetine through development. In addi-
tion, Sepracor will receive royalties on (R)-fluoxetine worldwide sales, if
any, beginning at product launch. Under the HSR Act, Sepracor has
received a request from the Federal Trade Commission for additional
information in connection with the Lilly Agreement and is in the process 
of responding to the request. (See Note N.)

On June 1, 1999, Sepracor announced a licensing agreement with UCB
Farchim SA, an affiliate of (“UCB”), relating to levocetirizine, an isomer of
ZYRTEC (racemic cetirizine). Under terms of the agreement, Sepracor has
exclusively licensed to UCB all of Sepracor’s issued patents and pending
patent applications regarding levocetirizine in Europe and all other coun-
tries, except the United States and Japan. UCB will begin to pay Sepracor
royalties upon first product sales, if any, and royalties will escalate upon
achievement of sales volume milestones.

On September 1, 1999, HMRI and Sepracor amended the HMRI Agree-
ment that was entered into in June 1993, to settle all patent issues with
respect to fexofenadine, marketed by HMRI as Allegra. Under the terms of
a U.S. agreement, Sepracor and HMRI have settled an ongoing arbitrated
patent interference involving their U.S. patent properties, and HMRI now
owns the Sepracor patent properties with respect to fexofenadine. HMRI
also obtained an exclusive license to various other Sepracor U.S. patent
applications related to fexofenadine. Sepracor will receive royalties on 
fexofenadine sales, if any, in the U.S. upon expiration of HMRI’s composi-
tion of matter patent in mid-February 2001. Under the terms of a separate
ex-U.S. agreement, HMRI obtained an exclusive license to Sepracor’s
patents that had been subject of litigation in Europe, as well as various
other patent oppositions between the two companies outside the U.S.
Sepracor is entitled to royalties on fexofenadine product sales effective
March 1, 1999 in countries where Sepracor has patents, related to fex-
ofenodine. For the year ended December 31, 1999 the Company received
approximately $1,746,000 in royalty payments. In October 1999, upon
effectiveness of the amended HMRI Agreement, Sepracor also recognized
the $1,875,000 milestone payment that had previously been deferred.

On October 7, 1999, Sepracor announced that it had entered into an
agreement with Rhone-Poulenc Rorer SA (now Aventis) (“RPR”), under
which Sepracor has exclusively licensed RPR’s preclinical, clinical and 
post-marketing surveillance data package relating to zopiclone, its isomers
and metabolites, to develop, make, use and sell (+)-zopiclone in the U.S.
RPR will assign all U.S. patent applications relating to (+)-zopiclone to
Sepracor. Pursuant to the agreement, RPR retained the right under the
licensed data package to manufacture (+)-zopiclone in the U.S. for non-
U.S. markets. In addition, Sepracor has paid a $5,000,000 license fee to
RPR and will pay a royalty to RPR on (+)-zopiclone product sales, if any,
in the U.S. Sepracor may also be required to pay RPR milestone payments.

S – Employees’ Savings Plan
Sepracor has a 401K savings plan (the “401K Plan”) for all domestic
employees. Under the provisions of the 401K Plan, employees may volun-
tarily contribute up to 15% of their compensation up to the statutory
limit. In addition, Sepracor can make a matching contribution at its 
discretion. Sepracor matched 50% of the first $3,000 contributed by
employees up to $1,500 maximum per employee during 1999, 1998, and
1997. Sepracor incurred expenses of $337,000, $177,000, and $119,000
in 1999, 1998, and 1997, respectively, as its matching contribution.

T – Business Segment and Geographic Area Information
For “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
segments represent the Company’s internal organization as used by man-
agement for making operating decisions and assessing performance as the
source of business segments.

Sepracor previously considered and reported BioSphere and equity 
investments in HemaSure, Versicor and ChiRex as its business segments.
However, in 1999, BioSphere revenues were approximately 10% of the
consolidated revenues and BioSphere assets were under 2% of consoli-
dated assets. As a result of BioSphere’s revenues and assets representing
an immaterial amount of Sepracor’s total assets and revenues and as a
result of the reduction in equity investments, Sepracor senior management
does not make operating decisions or review operating results based on
the segments reported in the prior year. Sepracor now operates as a single
segment and has therefore not provided prior year disclosures. Financial
information by geographic area is presented below.

Geographic area data:

(in thousands) 1999 1998 1997

Revenues
United States:
Unaffiliated customers $20,393 $10,209 $2,195

Europe:
Unaffiliated customers $ 2,266 — —

Total revenues $22,659 $10,209 $2,195

Long-lived assets:
United States $49,439 $29,379 $15,960
Europe 251 — —
Canada 6,905 6,655 6,138

Total long-lived assets $56,595 $36,034 $22,098

Sepracor had no export sales to the Far East for the years ended December
31, 1999, 1998 and 1997.  Revenues are attributed to geographic loca-
tions based on selling location.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  (continued)
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